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LONG-TERM CARE PROVISIONS IN THE
PRESIDENT'S HEALTH CARE REFORM PLAN

FRIDAY, NOVEMBER 12, 1993

U.S. Senate,
Special Committee on Aging,

Madison, WI.

The Committee met, pursuant to notice, at 10 a.m., in room 421-

south. State Capitol Building, Madison, WI, Senator Russell

Feingold (acting chairman of the Committee) presiding.
Present: Senator Feingold.
Staff Present: Sumner Slichter, professional staff.

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR RUSSELL D. FEINGOLD,
ACTING CHAIRMAN

Senator Feingold. Welcome to our hearing today. Let me begin
by thanking everyone for coming to this hearing on the long-term
care provisions of the President's health care reform plan. It's very
nice for me to be back in the State Capitol and in this hearing
room, "Room 421 South," I must have said that 10,000 times when
I was in the State senate and, in particular, when I chaired the
State Senate Committee on Aging for 10 years.

It's an especially nice moment for both me and Sumner Slichter

who, every day that I have been in office, has worked with me not

only in general, but specifically, on issues having to do with aging,
people with disabilities, and long-term care. Sumner, of course, was
the committee clerk for the entire 10 years and now works with me
in my new role as a member of the U.S. Senate Special Committee
on Aging.
One of the things I really like about this hearing today is that

I'm chairing it. I don't get to chair hearings any more and it's going
to be a long time before I do, if ever, so it's kind of nice to be back
in that position.
The hearings are a little different at the Federal level, as some

of you may know. I learned this a few years ago. They're not open-
ended hearings. You are, however, permitted and encouraged to

submit statements in writing to us that will become part of the
record.

Also keep in mind that in order to avoid this problem, I hold a

listening session in every one of Wisconsin's 72 counties every
year—and we did our 64th yesterday, so we will make it for this

year—and I assure you that at many of the hearings, people were
concerned about this issue, on their own, have come and testified

about the importance of long-term care. So we'll try to keep you in-
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formed of where and when they are, so that you can give us your
input in your own home counties.

I want to thank especially today's witnesses for taking time out

of their day to share their thoughts with the Committee. I want to

thank as well State Senator John Plewa for arranging for this

hearing room. John, as all of you know, was a valued member of

the Aging Committee for many of those 10 years and was the vice-

chair of the committee from 1985 to 1989.

I also want to thank a new friend of mine, and really one of the

nicest people I've met in the U.S. Senate, the chairman of this

Committee, Senator David Pryor of Arkansas. He approved this

field hearing and, more importantly, has been a leader, not just on

long-term care but on a host of issues of importance to seniors. Is-

sues like the high price of pharmaceutical drugs, where he has
been the leader in the U.S. Senate. He has encouraged these kind

of hearings as a way to reach out beyond the Washington Beltway
to seek input on the critical issues of the day.

I also want to thank my senior colleague and friend Senator
Herb Kohl, who also is a member of this Federal committee. He
sent a statement which I'll share a bit of with you after my state-

ment. Because of a scheduling conflict. Senator Kohl could not be
with us today, but I want to especially commend the work that he
has done on the Senate Aging Committee on behalf of Wisconsin
seniors. He held a hearing like this earlier this year, in southeast-

ern Wisconsin, which helped highlight some of the problems facing
seniors in the area of consumer fraud. And it was a field hearing
he held in this very room again, 421 South, on Medicare supple-
mental insurance policies that I believe was instrumental in forg-

ing changes that strengthened regulations and consumer protec-
tions in that area. That hearing is a testament to the very real in-

fluence these field hearings can have. So we're proud that Wiscon-
sin has two Senators on the U.S. Senate Special Committee on

Aging, and it's been a honor to serve with Senator Kohl both on
that Committee and on the Senate as a whole.
As I said earlier, this hearing will focus on Federal long-term

care reform and, in particular, the proposal for long-term care re-

form that is included in President Clinton's health care reform

plan. I'm especially pleased that this allows us to have no break
at all in our work on long-term care. From the date I was sworn

in, in January 1993, we were put on the Committee right away
and, thanks to the President and the First Lady, I don't have to

wait around 2 or 3 years begging people to talk about this thing.
Because of this President and this First Lady, we can do what we
can to make sure this is one of the top issues discussed in health

care.

As chair of the Wisconsin Senate Aging Committee, it was my
privilege to participate with many of you in this room in developing
some of this country's most significant cutting edge long-term care

reform. The long-term care programs developed in Wisconsin have,
without a doubt, been the basis for work done not only in other

States but in other countries.

I was pleased to hear First Lady Hillary Rodham Clinton's com-
ments about Wisconsin's long-term care program which she stated

at what was called a health care reform university for Senators



and Members of Congress, she went out of her way to notice that

it was Wisconsin that had been the leader in this area. So it's easy
to see the influence our State has had in the long-term care provi-
sions of the President's health care plan.
The President has proposed an expanded home and community-

based long-term care benefit for any individual needing help with
three or more activities of daily living, or who has a severe cog-
nitive or mental impairment or mental retardation, or for children

under the age of 6 dependent on technology, and who otherwise re-

quires hospital or institutional care.

The States are to administer this new long-term care program
and, in theory, will have the flexibility to design their own commu-
nity-based program. Most important, the President's proposal has
the potential for providing the kind of consumer-oriented and
consumer-directed services that we have already seen work so well

here in Wisconsin.
The President's plan also has the potential for something I came

to appreciate, as author of Wisconsin's Alzheimer's program as

being absolutely critical in designing the long-term care system.
That is specifically recognizing and utilizing the critical role that

family members and respite play in providing long-term care.

Prior to the President's plan, there had been many health care
reform proposals, but few of them recognized that including a

meaningful long-term care provision was essential to achieving the

goals of health care reform. Though long-term care benefits have
been included in some long-term care, none of the proposals prior
to the President's plan, including even the very good proposal of my
friend Paul Wellstone, a single payor system, none of them offered

the fundamental reform that is needed. This is a serious mistake.
The demographic imperatives of health care dictate that if we are
ever to get health care costs under control, we must include not

just long-term care benefits but long-term care reform in the health
care reform package. Because the Clinton long-term care plan
shares some of the same long-term care concepts established over
12 years ago in our State, Wisconsin is uniquely qualified as a site

for a hearing on the President's plan.
How will this fit into what we're trying to do in Washington, this

hearing? Very well. I will be using the material from today's hear-

ing as substance for the speeches I have been giving on the Floor
of the Senate. I've given, I believe, three of those speeches now,
each one on a different aspect of long-term care. I know from know-
ing you folks that you'll give me more valuable information here

today that Sumner and I will use to make those speeches. We will

use it in order to help give addresses and speeches to other groups
that are interested in this subject in Washington and throughout
the country.
We will use this information to lobby our fellow Senators and

Members of Congress to make sure the long-term care provisions
are kept in and approved, rather than taking them out when the

going gets tough, and we will use this information where appro-
priate, perhaps to draft amendments to the President's plan, to

even improve the items.
I'll just note that it was because some people came to our long-

term care hearings years ago and said we've got a problem with



hospitals discharging people to nursing homes and not to homes in

the community. Wouldn't it be nice if we had a pilot program here
in Wisconsin to address that problem? Well, we did that, and it

succeeded in Milwaukee, and that was the second bill I introduced
in Washington, it was Senate Bill 52, which provides for a national

pilot program based on the success that we've had here. The only
reason that ever happened, was because somebody in a room like

this, one of you, probably, came to me and said, "Why don't you
give this a try?"

So today we've invited long-term care consumers, administrators
of long-term care programs, and long-term care reform advocates.
I've asked the witnesses to keep their oral presentations relatively

brief, but as I said before, any written testimony you have will be
included in the hearing record.

Given Wisconsin's experience with home and community-based
long-term care programs and especially the community options pro-

gram, it's my hope that the hearing record will become an impor-
tant contribution to long-term care reform at the Federal level. I

know it will certainly be central to my own efforts.

Now we'll start off with just a few paragraphs from Senator
Kohl's statement.
The Senator says:

I want to commend Senator Feingold for calling this hearing this morning on be-

half of the Senate Special Committee on Aging. He is a long-standing and effective

advocate for home and community-based long-term care options. I am confident that

this hearing will contribute substantially to our insights and contributions in the

upcoming health care debate. I look forward to reviewing the witness testimony in

this critical issue.

The issue of long-term care is a matter of dignity. It is a matter of economic free-

dom. It is a matter of whether or not we are going to continue on this course of

addressing people's needs through a medical model or through a community-based
well-being model. The lack of a coherent long-term care policy has become a matter
of fear and insecurity for some of the most vulnerable among us, and that must
stop.

Long-term care is a vital part of the national debate on health reform. It is critical

to our frail, elderly population; it is critical to those living with disabilities; and it

is critical to those who are challenged to provide quality care for either their chil-

dren or their parents. It simply affects us all.

And we will have available in the record the remainder of the
Senator's statement.

[The prepared statement of Senator Kohl, submitted for the

record, follows:]

Prepared Statement of Senator Herb Kohl

I want to commend Senator Feingold for calling this hearing this morning on be-

half of the Senate Special Committee on Aging. He is a long-standing and effective

advocate for home and community based long-term care options. I am confident that

this hearing will contribute substantially to our insights and contributions in the

upcoming health care debate. I look forward to reviewing the witness testimony on
this critical issue.

The issue of long-term care is a matter of dignity. It is a matter of economic free-

dom. It is a matter of whether or not we are going to continue on this course of

addressing people's needs through a medical model, or through a community based

well-being model. The lack of a coherent long-term care policy has become a matter
of fear and insecurity for some of the most vulnerable among us. And that must
stop.

Long Term Care is a vital part of the national debate on health reform. It is criti-

cal to our frail elderly population. It is critical to those living with disabilities. And
it is critical to those who are challenges to provide quality care for either their chil-

dren, or their parents. It simply effects us all.



Like the concept of Health Care Reform in general, Long Term Care is important
from the standpoint of accessibility and availability. While Long Term Care policies
are available to people through private insurers, there are many who are simply ex-

cluded from eligibility. This is because they already have diagnosed diseases or

health histories that clearly indicate a future need of benefits, and therefore they
are not able to buy policies. This unfairly affects the aged like those already diag-
nosed with Alzheimer's Disease, and also affects the young such as children born
with debilitating birth defects. So if we are to address Long Term Care, we must
address it for all.

Secondly, even if Long Term Care is available to people, it isn't always affordable.

As many more older Americans live longer, well into their 80s and 90s, the costs

of Long Term Care coverage continue to rise dramatically. One study indicates that
the average American first purchases Long Term Care coverage around age 70.

Since premiums increase with age, and most people in this age group are on rel-

atively fixed incomes, and coverage simply becomes unafibrdable to many in need.
And even for those who can afford coverage there is little long term security. That
is because as costs increase with age, a high percentage of coverage holders let their

policies lapse because they can no longer keep up with the increasing prices.

Long Term Care is important for another reason. It will help expand the health
care choices of those in need. While some policies cover nursing home care, they
don't include in-come health care or community based care. Our system of medical
care has evolved greatly over the past few decades. Some treatments and procedures
once reserved only for the hospital, nursing home or doctor's office, can now be ren-
dered effectively in the home setting or through community outreach programs.
Making these services eligible under Long Term Care policies, will be important to

overall health care cost containment.
While 1 have talked in detail about the Long Term Care dilemma as it affects the

elderly, they are certainly not the only group that has a stake in this debate. While
seniors most often need this care, the bills are often left to their children and grand-
children who in many cases risk financial hardship and ruin as they desperately try
to provide for their loved ones. And at the other end of the spectrum are disabled
children or those with long term illnesses. They too are in need of Long Term Care
coverage, currently unavailable or unaffordable to most.

Like the entire Health Care Reform debate, many are sure to ask, "How can we
as a nation afford to provide these benefits?" While financing this program will be
central to the debate, I believe it will be more costly if we don't act. For example,
the lack of Long Term Care coverage means many wind up seeking more costly
medical services in hospital beds, nursing homes or emergency rooms, simply be-
cause less expensive, more efficient home health care is not covered. According to

one study, it is estimated that 85 percent of people who use long term care live at

home, yet 82 percent of the longer term care expenditures provided in this country
are done through nursing homes. We simply must make the services available
where the need is greatest and the cost is lowest. Right now, we do the exact oppo-
site and that must change. Here in Wisconsin, we have placed a premium on skilled

nursing facility beds through an imposed cap. By and large, Medicaid covers those

beds, and not home and community based options. The consequence? A limited sup-
ply, an increasing demand and lack of access. The Community Options Program is

a popular, but rationed alternative, and the waiting lists demonstrate this. COP ex-
ists through a waiver of the federal rules, not an explicit federal policy.

I am committed to making Long Term Care a cornerstone of any Health Care Re-
form package we address in Congress. Again, I wish to thank the witnesses for their

input, and look forward to working with you and we move forward in our goal of
a making affordable Long Term Care available to all who need it.

Senator Feingold. The first group that we'll call up will be con-
sumers and case managers, Jettie Jones, Bob Deist, and Charles

McLaughlin, if they would come forward to the table here, and
we'll start off, when you're ready, with Jettie. Jettie Jones is a

Community Options Program client.

JETTIE LEE JONES, WIFE OF COMMUNITY OPTIONS PROGRAM
RECIPIENT MILWAUKEE, WI

Mrs. Jones. G^od morning, Senator Feingold. It is a privilege to

come before you today, and I am very thankful and grateful for this

program.



I have come today representing Launcelot E. Jones, who is my
husband, who has been a recipient of COP for 4 years. He is 78

years old. He is now attending adult day care in Milwaukee under
the program provided through the Community Options Program,
and we are pleased for what it has done for us in our lives.

Launcelot has been a committed individual volunteering in the

community for many years. He was with the Project Involve,
CWAG Aging, the Allied Council of Senior Citizens, and was ap-

pointed to the Commission on Aging until his health failed. He re-

tired from Housing and Urban Development as an equal oppor-

tunity specialist, and today he is now frail and his health has

failed, but thanks to the Community Options Program, it has en-

abled he and I to maintain our dignity and our love and relation-

ship and our family unit is good, and we live in our own apart-
ment. He now has heart trouble, he is a borderline diabetic, and
he is now visually and physically impaired so he can't be actively
involved. But due to the Community Options Program, Launcelot
is doing very well. It takes care of the transportation to and from
the doctor, the hospital, and it also takes him to the adult day care.

The adult day care in Milwaukee, the name is Village Church, and
at this day care he is able to have nutritional meals, to commu-
nicate with others there, and to have that stimulus that enables
him to be a productive individual.

The Community Options Program also provides for a personal
health worker, who comes into our home for 4 hours per week, and
it also gives us homemaking services 8 hours a month who cares

for the home, cleans the home, and I maintain the rest of the home
for the rest of the week.
So I'm here today, very grateful for this program, and I certainly

would not want to see this program go down the drain, so-to-speak.
In other words, it needs to be funded for those who are waiting,
those who might have to go to a nursing home if this program
doesn't continue to exist.

So today I represent not only Launcelot but other persons who
are waiting hoping they will be eligible for these services. So today
it's actually a privilege to come and to share, and I am just grateful
for what it has done, and I'm looking forward to what it's going to

do to help others.

So I thank you for listening, and we are very appreciative of the

service. You have my written testimony there, and certainly that

would give more detail. So thank you again for your time. Senator

Feingold.
[The prepared statement of Mrs. Jones follows:]

Prepared Testimony of Jettie Jones

Good Morning, thank you for allowing me the privilege of testifying today.

My husband Launcelot E. Jones is 78 years old and he has been a recipient of

Community Options Program (COP) program for 4 years. He has developed heart

trouble, borderline diabetes, chronic back ailments and is physically and visually

impaired.
In 1980, my husband retired from his position as an Equal Opportunity Specialist

with Housing and Urban Development (HUD). He has had a long-standing commit-
ment to community service. As a young man, he began working with seniors. He
was active for a number of years with the Coalition of Wisconsin Aging Groups
(CWAG) where he served as second vice-president for the group. For many years
he has been a member of Project Involve's Senior Group. As a member of his church,



St. Matthew C.M.E., for more than 17 years, he has been an active layperson, hav-

ing served as a Board trustee and as President of the Senior Group.
The Community Options Program (COP) has helped my husband in these many

ways: with transportation to the doctor, to Adult Day Care, and from the hospital.
Launcelot attends the Village Church Adult Day Care program in Milwaukee. There
his mind and body are kept stimulated and alive. The Adult Day Care program in-

cludes recreation, a nutritious meal, health monitoring by a nurse, and grocery
shopping services. He also receives Homemaker Services, four hours every 2 weeks
(8 hours per month) plus Personal Care Services 4 hours per week. The Personal
Care Aide assists Launcelot with his back, shampoos his hair, applies lotion to his

body and communicates with him, which he deeply appreciates.
This program allows us to maintain our personal dignity as a family unit. I am

63 years old, have multiple sclerosis, and am on disability. Despite my declining
health, I can maintain the housekeeping for the rest of the month with the support
the Community Options Program provides for my husband.

I am thankful that COP has provided the services we need to sustain our living
in our own flat. Without this program my husband Launcelot would have to go to

a nursing home. Since I do not drive, I would be unable to visit him and the family
relationship would be lost.

I am very thankful that we are helped by this program but I am grieved for the

many frail elderly persons in desperate need of services who face premature nursing
home placement due to the long waiting lists for services funded by the Community
Options Program. These persons may lose the privilege of maintaining their family
relationships at home. But, I am hopeful that the Community Options Program will

continue in order that families can remain intact in the community.

Senator Feingold. Thank you very much. Thank you. Bob.

STATEMENT OF MR. ROBERT DEIST, PERSONAL CARE
PROGRAM DIRECTOR

Mr. Deist. Okay. I would hke to thank Senator Feingold for this

opportunity to speak on such an important topic as long-term care.

I've been disabled since the age of 14 as a result of a bullet
wound to my spinal cord which caused me to become a quadriple-
gic. I know what living in the community is like, and I also know
what living in a nursing home is like.

At the age of 15 because there was no long-term care, I was
placed in a nursing home because, at that time, my parents could
not afford to quit their jobs and provide my care in-home. It took
a huge psychological toll on my family, the fact that I was in a

nursing home. Finally, with the great financial loss of my family,
my mother quit her job and I came home. In 1979 I went to college.
In 1982 I graduated from college, got married, and began a career
and have supported my family ever since.

I hope to work to the age of retirement, but to assure that I'm

going to need some sort of long-term support. My wife is my only
care provider. Even though we both work our incomes aren't sub-
stantial enough to pay for a personal care attendant to come in our
home and assist me with my cares.

My wife is my only care provider, she provides my care 365 days
a year, whether she's ill or whether she's injured. My current
health insurance coverage does not cover personal care to my home
and I know of no private insurance plan that will. We both realize
that if she were not able to provide my personal cares due to an
illness or injury for even a few weeks, our savings would be gone
and we would probably lose our home. I could be faced with going
in a nursing home and my son and wife would end up on public
assistance. Naturally my family and I hope such a catastrophic
thing will never happen.
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Because I work, I'm not eligible for government funding to help
pay for my everyday care needs. Ironically, I'm a director of two
personal care programs at an independent living center here in

Madison. One program's customers are funded through the Com-
munity Options Program and on the other program the customers
are funded through medical assistance personal care.

With very few exceptions, such as the Wisconsin Community Op-
tions Program and a few committed customer-directed agency-
based medical assistance personal care programs, the present long-
term care systems are, at best, fragmented, sparse, and restrictive.

At its worst it's over-medicalized, institutional-biased, patient, not

customer-oriented, and has extensive waiting lists for funding, and
is extremely bureaucratic.
We must fundamentally change how we presently deliver long-

term care in this country. We must move from institutional care to

community care and from a medical model to a social model. People
should be viewed as customers, not as patients.

Why do we have so many elderly people and people with physical
disabilities in nursing homes? Ask any nursing home resident
where they would rather be. The answer would be home. Ask any
family member who has a mother, father, brother, sister, son or

daughter in a nursing home, if they had the resources where would
they like the family member to be? The answer would be home,
please.

Why can't those same tax dollars pay for the customer's care in-

home, instead of an institution, in a manner which gives the person
dignity through empowerment, choice and respect?
The way long-term care has been provided in this country is piti-

ful. It has no respect for the customer nor the taxpayer.
The present model of long-term care is extremely medical and

bureaucratic. It is driven by a huge health care industry which is

fed by tax dollars. The system is often embraced and its practices
supported and endorsed at both the Federal and State level. State
and Federal policymakers believe in the stereotypes and philosophy
of the health care industry. They view people with disabilities as

patients who are not capable of making decisions on their own
basic care needs.
The medical model takes away customer choices and preferences

in how care is provided and who provides it. The medical model
claims cares can only be done by highly skilled nurses or other
medical professionals. This is unnecessary and is extremely expen-
sive. Cares such as bathing, dressing, bowel and bladder care, in-

serting catheters, skin care, dispensing medications, changing
dressings, and even ventilator care, can be done by nonmedical pro-
viders. Some of these cares may need to be taught by the care pro-
vider, such as a nurse; however, with few exceptions, most cares
do not require a medical professional such as a nurse or even a
nurse's aide. My wife has no medical background and has virtually
provided all my cares for over 12 years.
The medical model assumes people with disabilities are ill when,

in fact, they are people with some physical limitations. This ideol-

ogy is costing taxpayers billions of dollars. People with disabilities

have become products to be marketed, bought, and sold. Our every
bodily function is dictated by mountains of procedure codes, regula-



tions, and paperwork. The insanity of all this is getting worse every
year.

I would like to share with you a few examples of this insanity.
The other day I received a call from a mother who has a 4-year-
old daughter in preschool. The daughter has spina bifida. She
needs to be catheterized at least twice a day at school. The person
who is doing the catheterization is leaving. The mother is in a

panic. She called the home health agency. The home health agency
said they could provide cathing at the cost of $80 per visit. Now,
this is twice a day. I called some other home health agencies myself
and found out, through two of them, neither one certainly can do
it twice a day, and one had a cost of $95 per visit. If they have to

go through a home health agency, this will have to come through
the family's pocket. Changing a catheter takes about 15 to 30 min-
utes from start to finish and when she is home her mother and fa-

ther, who are not medical professionals, provide this care for her.
The daughter is on the Katie Beckett program; however, medical
assistance will not pay for any type of assistance outside the home.

If you were a person with quadriplegia and required personal
care, housekeeping, 8 hours a day, 7 days a week, and your only
funding is medical assistance, you may have to go to a home health

agency to ask for service. You may be told by a nurse that they
only provide cares Monday through Friday 8 a.m. to 5 p.m. You
will have no control of your daily schedule. You are told when you
will get up and when you will go to bed. The time will vary every
day, depending how the agency schedules your cares. You go to bed
in the afternoon because they don't provide service after 5 p.m. And
what happens on weekends?
Home health agencies will only provide you with 2 hours of care

per day because reimbursement is based per visit, not per hour, so

everything over 2 hours is not profitable for that agency to provide
service. Each day, a different nurse or nurse's aide will come to

your home and provide your cares in the way they were taught in

a class room, ignoring how you would prefer your cares to be done.
Home health agencies won't hire family, friends, or neighbors of
the customer because of the agency's policies and medical assist-

ance regulations. Friends or family members may help out, on an
unpaid basis, for a while, but many already have full-time jobs or
other responsibilities. Relying on natural supports on an unpaid
basis to provide customers care is dangerous as a long-term care
solution. Your only other option may be a nursing home.

If you are fortunate enough to receive services from a customer
focused medical assistance personal care agency, such as an inde-

pendent living center, you still have to contend with sometimes in-

trusive, bureaucratic, and unnecessary medical procedures due to
Health Care Financing Administration (HCFA) and the Wisconsin
Division of Health requirements. However, you can make more de-
cisions regarding your daily needs.

Independent living centers and a few other personal agencies,
personal care agencies, have designed their medical assistance per-
sonal care programs to empower customers, allowing the customer
to decide how and when their cares are done. Some medical assist-
ance personal care agencies, particularly independent living cen-

ters, have customer advisory committees, boards of directors with



10

customers on them, and some staff with disabilities to manage the

program. Customers can hire almost anyone they wish and request
a new personal care attendant if they're dissatisfied with the per-
formance of the present one. The customer is involved with the

training of their personal care attendants. Customers direct their

personal care attendants and monitor their performance. They also
receive services 7 days a week.
Even with this range of customer involvement there are many

problems. Medical assistance requires the agency to hire registered
nurses to do home visits every 50 to 60 days, even though the cus-
tomer is in perfect health. The nurses must justify basic cares such
as dressing, bathing, or toileting through plans of care, doctor's or-

ders, and prior authorizations.
All assistance must be provided in the customer's home. Personal

care attendants can only clean the areas of the home which are

medically related to the cares. Cleaning windows, raking leaves, or

shoveling snow from sidewalks are not medically related to the cus-

tomer's care, so they are not covered.
The customer's personal care attendant can do the customer's

grocery shopping; however, the customer is not allowed to accom-

pany them in the grocery store. A personal care attendant cannot

provide the customer with assistance at school, work or any other

place outside the home, unless it's a medically necessary visit such
as a trip to a doctor's office.

The customer could have a Ph.D., but if the customer could not

physically take the cap off a bottle of medications and take the pill

themselves, the agency must know the type of medication and in-

struct the personal care attendant on the side effects of that medi-
cation. This includes everjrthing from aspirins to medicated skin
creams to prescription drugs. The mounds of paperwork to comply
with these procedures and regulations is not only unnecessary but
adds a significant cost to receiving services.

How can we change this? Start by demedicalizing long-term care
so that true medical care is available when needed but not thrust

upon those who don't need it.

Wisconsin and other States with medical assistance personal
care benefits can now be demedicalized as a result of recent
amendments in the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act, making
the benefit independent of medical or nursing supervision. Under
OBRA 1993 States can totally demedicalize medical assistance per-
sonal care services. There is no longer an3^hing in the law to pre-
clude States from allowing MA personal care from becoming a cus-

tomer self-directed program.
In order to eliminate barriers in the community-based cares the

nurse practiced act needs to be modified. So personal care attend-
ants are not violating the law while providing these tasks—"i.e.,

medications, catheters, ventilators." Instead of having nurses be re-

sponsible for these tasks the customer, family, or guardian should
be responsible for decisions and outcomes. Institutional policy
standards cannot be adapted to the community!
The principles and values of the Wisconsin COP program should

become the foundation of any long-term care initiative. Customers
should be treated as customers, not patients. Customers should be
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able to choose care providers and schedule their own hours. They
should be trainers and supervisors of the personal care attendants.

Agency-based programs can accomplish this as seen in San Fran-
cisco's On Lok Program, a managed care program designed to indi-

vidually tailor supports for the customers. This model was designed
for people who are elderly but there are portions of it which could
be applied to a program for younger people with physical disabil-

ities.

The State of Wisconsin has become interested in managed care

programs similar to the On Lok Program. I'm a participant in a
focus group made up of people with disabilities and family mem-
bers who have children who are disabled, to study the concept of

long-term managed care. We have developed a list of procedures
and considerations which should be part of any long-term care pro-
gram, whether there is managed care or not. I have given you a
hand-out on the list of the focus group, but I'll just summarize a
few of those.

Customers should be able to be decide who provides their care.

Benefits should be portable so customers do not lose benefits be-
cause they move to different counties or different States.
Customers should be guaranteed if their needs change services

will be flexible to support that change.
Customers should be involved in the design, staffing, and govern-

ing of any long-term care system.
The social, not the medical, models should be used in the deliv-

ery of service.

Use of paid, natural supports.
Identifying and utilizing a customer's available natural supports;

examples—family and friends, should be actively encouraged and
involved in the development of individual customer's care and serv-
ices.

A customer should be able to hire whoever they feel most quali-
fied to provide the cares. Lay people can provide the customer's
cares if taught properly. In most cases there is no need for medi-

cally skilled persons such as nurses to provide many cares unless
the customer is truly ill. This will not only be respectful of cus-
tomer choice, but promote service economies and keep families to-

gether.
Customers need to be trained to effectively direct and manage

their cares.

If customers want to be independent they have an obligation to

become skilled and knowledgeable about the issues that relate to

their independence.
Customers must play an active role in identifying their services

as they require.
Customers should be the key players on the team in terms of de-

termining how their services are provided.
Services should be provided to optimize customer's access to em-

ployment, career development, and advanced education and train-

ing.
And finally, the frequency and depth of ongoing monitoring

should take into account the ability of the consumer to self-direct
and evaluate their cares.
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Any acute care program must include long-term care. Many med-
ical interventions will be vain and costly if long-term care is not

part of acute care. What good is extensive treatment for a bed sore
if a customer is sent home from a hospital to no care or inadequate
care? The customer will most likely return to the hospital for an-
other costly treatment or surgery.

In summary, I believe customers must be empowered to direct
and manage their cares. We can no longer afford to conduct busi-
ness solely under the medical model. It is too demeaning and ex-

pensive.
I personally believe customers should be able to determine how

their long-term care dollars are spent. If they choose to recruit,

train, and hire their own personal care attendants, that should be
their choice. In fact, it may be their only choice if there are no serv-

ice providers in the area in which they live.

Other customers may choose to receive their service through an
agency. According to the World Institute on Disability and the

Independent Living Rehabilitation Utilization Project, the majority
of consumers prefer getting services from an agency, provided it's

a customer-directed agency, because an agency may be able to pro-
vide more security in the recruitment, training, and provide emer-

gency back-up if a personal care attendant quits or is too ill to

work.

Any long-term care program must include the philosophy and
values of the COP program. Without them we have created nothing
more than mini-institutions in people's homes.

I thank you for your time and support in the development of cus-

tomer-directed long-term care.

Senator Feingold. Thank you. Bob. So far we've heard from a

spouse of a COP client, now somebody on a COP waiting list, a

long-term care consumer, and now we'll go to Charles McLaughlin,
who's a long-term support supervisor for the Jackson County De-

partment of Human Services, one of those eight or nine counties
where I have yet to hold a listening session, but will in the next

couple of weeks. Go ahead.

CHARLES Mclaughlin, supervisor, jackson county
DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES

Mr. McLaughlin. Thank you for this opportunity to speak about
Wisconsin's Community Options Program, and some of its features
which make it a model for other home and community-based care

programs.
Senator Feingold. Let me just interrupt. I should make sure

that you speak up. Some people I'm not sure can hear in the back.
I also want to note, as I should have earlier, that Rita Lampert
from Senator Kohl's office is here and I'm sure available if you
would like to convey something to Senator Kohl. She's the lady
right here in the second row. Excuse me. Go ahead.
Mr. McLaughlin. I believe Wisconsin's COP program can serve

as an excellent guide for the Federal Government as it makes
choices and formulates policy for home- and community-based care

programs. This program has been in existence for over 10 years
and has been implemented in every county of the State of Wiscon-
sin. It has a broad and lengthy experience.
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I have worked in human services since 1968 and, therefore, have
had ample opportunity to observe short- and long-term changes in

how we do what we do.

I recall early in my tenure that there was an almost complete ab-

sence of community-based and in-home care services for older peo-

ple who were in need of support. In those days older people in need
of support fell into two categories

—those who had natural supports
and sufficient resources to enable them to create the needed in-

home supports to allow them to remain in their chosen situation;
and those who did not have sufficient means and/or natural sup-
ports to remain in their chosen settings.

Many people in the second category had no choice but to enter
the nursing home. Most of the people I worked with in this cat-

egory did not need the skilled medical care a nursing home could
offer but there were simply no other alternatives available.

While some of the people eventually adjusted to leaving their

home and entering the nursing home, others never did. Although
I have no hard, empirical evidence to document the fact, I saw peo-
ple who simply willed their own death because they saw no reason
to continue living. These were people who were literally torn from
familiar places and familiar people. People who had lost the con-

tinuity of their lives and the history which so richly had made
them into what they were now. People who had nurtured and sus-

tained their communities which, in turn, had provided them with

positive status in that community. These people were truly up-
rooted and adrift in an alien environment lacking familiar sights,

sounds, and smells. Many of them simply chose to not live any
longer. While the medical care they received was excellent, they
were more than just their physical bodies. Modem medicine has no
treatment for a broken spirit.

I recall clearly the inner turmoil I experienced during these

years. These were the 1960's. I had given up an opportunity to do

graduate work at Iowa State University in sociology because I felt

that sociology was too sterile and removed when there were so

many people who were in need.
I came to social work to help, but in these situations where elder-

ly people were in need of in-home supports, it became clear to me
that I was doing further injury to people. I had become an instru-

ment of a system which gave people no choice.

I recall thinking about the fact that when I went to the grocery
store there was an incredible choice. There was an entire aisle for

various types of pet food. But when elderly people encountered

frailty and the loss of independence, there were basically no choices
for them. It seemed a sad reality that the society was doing a much
better job at providing meal diversity to cats and dogs than they
were doing at offering choices to humans facing frailty.

In addition, what few services that were available in those days
lacked any flexibility. The social worker was perpetually in the sit-

uation of having to try to fit the person into the service rather than

fitting the service to suit the person. It was apparently felt that

people in Washington, DC, or Madison, Wisconsin, had a much
clearer view of what people in Jackson County needed than what
we had in Jackson County. This "superior vision system" not only
gave us a rigid service system which couldn't contemplate individ-

77-491 0-94
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ual needs, it also gave us a system which effectively stifled any cre-

ativity the case manager may have had.
I remember those days clearly. The only creativity we could effect

was to interpret the rules and regulations to permit us to do what
an individual needed. We became very adept at reinterpreting lan-

guage and were delighted when rule writers gave us some ambigu-
ous term or phrase.
While at some level we must have been kind of conscious of the

inherent absurdity of a system designed to help which was, in fact,

doing harm, the thought of a system change significant enough to

change the entire system was pure fantasy. None of us in those

days could imagine this ponderous bureaucracy actually

reinventing itself to be more responsive to individual needs.

Wisconsin's Community Options Program actually did reinvent
the system to be responsible to individual needs. In my 25 years
of experience in this business, there has been a long list of revolu-

tionary changes which were going to make improvements in the

system, resulting in better services to the consumer. Most have not
delivered on their promise.
The Community Options Program promised such change and did

deliver. The changes withstood the test of time, as the program has
now been in existence over 10 years. Fundamental changes have
occurred in the relationship of the counties to the State, creative

energies of case managers have been unshackled, flexibility has re-

placed rigidity, individualization of services exists where before

rules and categories determined what could and could not be done.

County/State relationships have always been strained. A county-
based service delivery system with enormous local control subject
to many individual variations because of that local control must, at

times, feel like a 72-headed hydra to the State's staff. In the past
a great deal of energy has been wasted on reciprocal condemnation,
with the counties feeling that everything would be fme if the State
wouldn't interfere with our efforts, and the State feeling that ev-

erything would be fme if the counties would simply do what they
were told to do by the State.

While the introduction of the Community Options Program has
not resulted in harmonious bliss between county and State staff,

there have been enormous improvements.
I believe this change has happened because there is finally con-

gruency between the State and county staff around core issues and
values. A partnership has been forged because of a common vision

of how long-term support services should be structured and deliv-

ered to promote choice and empowerment. The goals of the State
and county staff are essentially the same. This outcome seems rel-

evant to me as the Federal Grovemment contemplates home- and

community-based care. Congruence at a county, State, and Federal
level would lead to a powerful alliance to deliver flexible and indi-

vidualized services to people in need.
The flexibility in Wisconsin's COP program has been a true

breath of fresh air. COP program funds can be used for any pur-
pose the comprehensive assessment identifies as a need for the in-

dividual.
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We no longer find the "you need what I have" syndrome, where
the person is put into an existing service no matter how poor the

fit, because that service is what the system has available.

In the COP program, needs are identified through the assess-

ment process, which ensures that the unique individual is central

to all planning and service selection. The assessment process is of

sufficient duration and intensity that the person, their life, their

preferences, their associations, and their hopes and dreams are

well-known before a plan is established.

The boundaries of what services are possible are now set only by
the individual preferences and the case manager's creativity.
The flexible funding introduced with the COP program has un-

leashed the creativity of case managers. It has also breathed new
life into myself and many others who were very frustrated with

programs which intended to do good but, instead, did harm.

Finally, the bureaucratic fetters were removed and what was
needed was defined by the recipients themselves. It's difficult to

communicate how profoundly these changes energized the system
and the people who operate it. I believe that this funding flexibility

is one of the main reasons, if not the main reason, for the success

of the COP program in Wisconsin.
I frankly worry that the Federal Government will not see this

element as essential in the success of home- and community-based
care. I believe that risk is greater because flexible funding is such
a simple and common sense idea. I don't believe the government
has a positive record in supporting common sense. [Laughter.]
There seems to be a feeling that common sense may be too com-

mon to be trusted.

If there is a concern that allowing for funding flexibility will lead

to enormous and lavish spending, Wisconsin's experience should

help to debunk that idea.

Others who have testified today are far more competent than I

to cite to specific studies; however, I do know that all of the studies

done of the COP program have concluded that it is less costly than
institutional alternatives.

Competent case managers are aware that we have a responsibil-

ity to be good stewards of the public dollar. Additional safeguards
are provided by local control and oversight committees.

It seems to me that it shouldn't be difficult to figure out that a

case manager in Jackson County, who knows the texture of an in-

dividual's life, is more likely to know what that particular person
needs than a bureaucrat in Madison or Washington, DC, who has
never met the person.

Earlier in our implementation of the COP program in Jackson

County, we worked with an elderly man who was facing some seri-

ous health problems. He was facing surgery and some convales-

cence before he could return to his home. The most important thing
in this man's life was his dog.
His dog was his compamion, his confidante, his support system

and, to a large extent, his reason for getting up in the morning and

living 1 more day on the planet. The man was also isolated, did not
have a strong natural support system, and lived on his SSI income.
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A search for a volunteer to care for his dog was unsuccessful. We
therefore used Community Option Program dollars to provide room
and board for the animal.
We are convinced that the man's knowledge that his dog was

being cared for, awaiting his return, had a great deal to do with
his speedy recovery and return to his home. It also had a great
deal to do with keeping him out of institutional care, which would
have been more costly and less satisfying to him.
Should we have a regulation mandating using funding to board

dogs? Of course not.

Should we have a regulation prohibiting funding to be used to

board dogs? Of course not.

The beauty of flexible funding and individualization is that it rec-

ognizes the uniqueness of each individual and their circumstances.
A young woman who became disabled through an accident is cou-

rageously trying to live in the home she and her ex-husband built

prior to her disability. As is frequently the case in Jackson County,
the home is in a very rural part of the county. This young woman
is now in frail health and needs regular and consistent nursing vis-

its.

In the winter and spring access to the home was problematic due
to the quarter mile driveway sometimes being impassable.
We used COP funds to improve the driveway so that necessary

services can be delivered. This winter she will be secure in the

knowledge that critical medical care and, if needed, emergency
services will always be able to get to her.

Again, the flexibility of COP funding was the key to keeping this

person in her chosen setting.
While there certainly are common themes of what people need

who have long-term support needs, there is also incredible diversity
and variety in what they need. No set of regulations can encompass
that diversity. No policy manual can contain that variety.
This is in part a plea to not continue the errors made in the past.

An emphasis on an individualized case planning process, coupled
with inflexible funding categories, is a recipe for frustration and
unsuccessful care plans.

It seems to me to be clear that Wisconsin has amply dem-
onstrated that flexible funding is successful and cost efficient.

I hope that flexible funding, individualization, and consumer
choice form the foundation of the Federal plan for home- and com-

munity-based care. Thank you for this opportunity.
Senator Feingold. Thanks to all on the panel. Let me ask you

a few questions.
First of all, I would like to say that you all gave examples and

anecdotes. These are more than nice additions to what you're say-

ing. They are essential. To have a real impact, we need to talk

about real human beings. Policymakers will not wake up until they
hear about real human beings. So everyone in the room should re-

alize it.

If you send us those examples that illustrate your point, it will

have great effect, and frankly, without it, they won't pay attention.

It's just the nature of the subject unless you put the human being
in there. So thank you, you've made the issue real for us, this will
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be in the record. All of you know stories that you can send us to
illustrate the point. Please do so.

All of you helped bring out the point that this has to be reform,
not just an extension of benefits, and I thought the comment about
struggles between State and counties, which always exist, is a very
important one.

We in Wisconsin have to have a little bit of trepidation about the
Federal Government coming into this area because that would be
another level of government that, instead of helping this, could po-
tentially destroy it.

One of the things we're going to try to do through this hearing
is make sure that message is received, and I think that there's a

way to do that, and I think the plan the way it's structured could
have that flexibility, but there are some changes that might have
to be made to be sure that happens. So I appreciate all of those
comments.

Let me just ask a couple of questions, because there are people
on the other panels. Everybody talks about the waiting lists, and
we can hear specifically later on where we're at with the waiting
Hst.

I would like to hear from any of you who wish to talk about what
it feels like, from among your friends or acquaintances, whether
we're in a really tough position right now on waiting lists. Do peo-
ple feel there is no point in signing up because it takes so long?
Do they feel that the waiting-list problem is getting better or
worse? The reason I ask is that I want to make a case to the First

Lady and the President and my colleagues.
It shouldn't be that only those States that have never done any-

thing on this should get help. Those States that have been leaders
shouldn't be cut out of the funding, so I need to be able to make
a reasonable case that we will have some use for the funding and
that some of the money should go to those that already have the

program set up. I need an honest answer, but I would like to know
where you think we're at. Just your impressions. I don't need facts
and figures.
Mrs. Jones. My name is Jettie Lee Jones, and my impression is

that they're getting discouraged, some that are waiting. They think
that there is a lot of paperwork there. But my personal feeling is

that I want them to hang in there because it's an important pro-
gram, and I want them to be encouraged that there will be some-
thing done about it, that funds will be given to this program, that
those who are waiting and in need will be served. It's adequate
that they maintain their stability and their unity in the family.
That's what strengthens communities.

Senator Feingold. Thank you. Bob.
Mr. Deist. Well, I'm one of close to 400 people in Dane County

on a waiting list right now for COP. Now, you don't know from day-
to-day what's going to happen. As I mentioned in my testimony, if

something were to happen to my wife, my job goes, my family goes,
we fall apart.

I also deal on a day-to-day basis with customers who call and ask
for service and some sort of funding to keep them in their home,
and they're just extremely frustrated, they're angry. They don't
know what's going to happen tomorrow. And when you tell them



18

that there are, whatever the waiting lists are now, 350, 360 people
on the waiting lists, there's a silence on the phone.
And if they have a physical disability, they may not get service

literally for 30, 40 years, because at the rate now the people with

physical disability are going off of waiting lists in this particular
county, it might be 10 or 12 people at the very most, and so I be-

lieve that a lot of people, once they hear that, they don't even both-
er to call for service.

I think there are many more people out there who could utilize

the service, but with when they hear of such extensive waiting lists

they just give up.
I've known of other people, a friend of mine who committed sui-

cide because of the waiting lists.

So I guess the big word is, it's frustration, there's a lot of anger.
Senator Feingold. Any perspective from Jackson County on

that?
Mr. McLaughlin. Yes. We have a waiting list and have ever

since the first year of the introduction of the Community Options
Program. That waiting list is currently about 40 people long. Jack-
son County has a waiting list of approximately 17,000 totally.

Perhaps the greatest frustration in the waiting lists has been the
fact that, even though this program has consistently cost less than
institutional care, politically it is not an entitlement as is medical
assistance. If somebody tomorrow goes to the nursing home that is

eligible for MA, they'll be admitted for the nursing home. That
same person is going to wait on the waiting list for a very long
time in Jackson County.
We see people die on the waiting list, and maybe that's the most

unfortunate thing that I can say about this situation in this State.

People who never get served. Those of us in the trenches do what-
ever we can to pull together whatever benefits are available to try
and hope them cope, but sometimes people are simply over-

whelmed.
Senator Feingold. Excellent. That's exactly the kind of comment

I was hoping to hear.

One other question for the panel. I am informed that a provider
group has criticized the President's plan for allowing eligible indi-

viduals to independently contract and then supervise their own
home care aides. These folks are saying that there are only a very
limited number of cases where this would be appropriate. They
argue, instead, that the vast majority of individuals should only re-

ceive therapy from qualified home care people. What is the reaction

of any of you to that view? Jettie?

Mrs. Jones. I think we constantly need the individualized and
trained person along with teaching us in our home with our

spouses, what we can do to help them.
We realize that since there is a large number on the waiting list,

that all the providers cannot come into the individual homes and
give this personal care 24 hours, but we do need skilled workers
there to support us as we maintain our family group.
Senator Feingold. Okay. Bob?
Mr. Deist. Yes. It goes with what I was saying earlier. We

bought into the idea, or too many people bought into the idea, that
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if you have a disability or physical limitation they somehow associ-

ate that with being ill.

I'm quadriplegic, I work 40-plus hours a week, I drive, I support
my family. I don't need a nurse to come into my home and provide
my cares.

I've seen people who were on ventilators who have other supports
help that individual. I think it's helpful to have medically skilled

people there as trainers and as supports, but I think the vast ma-
jority of people who are living in their own homes don't need
skilled, don't have to have 4 years of college to give someone a bath
or to dress someone. You don't have to have that type of edu-
cational background. You can train lay people to do it if they feel

comfortable in doing it.

We can't afford to do it any other way on top of it. And besides

that, there aren't enough nurses to go around presently. That's
where we get into this 2 hours a day of service, because they don't
have enough skilled providers even to go around.
We train natural supports. If someone goes into the hospital, we

think nothing of training the mother and father to provide the care,
but suddenly, if they're home, if it isn't the mother and father

doing it, now it has to be a nurse to do it. And I think it's ridicu-
lous and it's too costly.
Senator Feingold. Okay. Thanks. That makes sense. Do you

want to say anything about that?
Mr. McLaughlin. Some years ago in Jackson County we had a

Federal demonstration project entitled, "Consumer Directed Serv-

ices," where we tried very consciously to put money in the hands
of people and put them in control of all of the services that hap-
pened in their lives. We saw them be able to do that. It's much too
broad a stroke to say that there are those who can do it and those
who cannot do it. Again, it varies depending upon the uniqueness
of the individual.

It was clear that the business of being your own employer, con-

tracting services and handling the myriad of paperwork, rules, re-

quirements, was very difficult for some people, and I think there
would need to be some sort of supportive services available to folks
to help them chart their way through the bureaucratic things that

they have to do in order to be their own employer.
Senator Feingold. Thank you. The last comment that I would

make to this panel is, you use the word "entitlement." You know
this is a little battle that we have in Washington. There are those
in this society who want to use the word "entitlement" as a way
to prevent us from ever talking about the things that I think that
Americans are frankly entitled to from being American. I don't like

the word "entitlement" because what it suggests is that there are
a lot of things that are wasteful and not everyone should have. I

think there are some cases of that.

We've eliminated something called the wool and mohair subsidy
that was given to wolf farmers. It was an entitlement. But some-
times that word is used as a weapon. To say that people who need
services shouldn't have an entitlement to them, I am willing to
stand here with somebody and say, I think Americans are entitled
to health care and I think that they are entitled to this kind of help
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as part of being Americans, especially when you talk about people
with disabilities or older people who are in these situations.

So don't let the other side have that word always as a weapon.
Say that, yes, there are some entitlements that are questionable
and should be eliminated, but there are others that are, in fact,

part of our rights as Americans. Don't let them win the word game.
It's the most powerful game in Washington. I thank the panel. It

was excellent.

Mrs. Jones. We thank you.
Mr. Deist. Thank you.
Senator Feingold. I'm just going to take a 1-minute break.

[Recess.]
Senator Feingold. All right. We'll get started again. Next we

turn to a panel of what we like to call advocates. There are many
in this room, without a doubt in my mind, not just these two peo-

ple, but many of the people in this room, are some of the finest peo-
ple that I have ever worked with in my life in this area, and people
that stick with this subject, not only over a few years but over a

big chunk of their lives, and makes it very helpful to have that
kind of continuity when you work on a subject.
So I see these two as merely a representative of the types of peo-

ple that are in this room and throughout this State that have al-

lowed Wisconsin to convince the First Lady that we take pride in

doing the best in this subject.
The two that we have asked today are Tom Frazier and Tom

Hlavacek, if they would come forward, and we'll start out with Tom
Frazier. Make sure you speak up. Everybody wants to hear you.

THOMAS L. FRAZIER, COALITION OF WISCONSIN AGING
GROUPS, MADISON, WI

Mr. Frazier. Good morning. Senator Feingold, welcome back to

the State Capitol. It is deja vu.

I also want to thank you for holding this very important hearing
here in Madison today.
My name is Tom Frazier. I'm executive director of the Coalition

of Wisconsin Aging Groups. And on behalf of the Coalition of Wis-
consin Aging Groups, I would like to say how pleased that we are
that community-based long-term care is included in the President's

Health Security Act.

Long-term care is one of the most important issues for older peo-
ple and their families. Older people fear having to go into a nursing
home or other type of institution. They want to remain in their own
homes for as long as they possibly can.

For example, I have never had an older person say to me, "I

would really like to go into a nursing home."
As far as I know it, this is the first ever White House proposal

on long-term care and it appears to be based on the best practices
of the States, including Wisconsin, which have pioneered the imple-
mentation of community-based long-term care as an alternative to

institutional care.

One of the problems, I think, that you already mentioned of

most, if not all, of the other health care reform plans, is the ab-

sence of long-term care or the lack of specificity about it. Such fea-

tures of the Administration's long-term care plan, such terms as
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"community-based," "State-administered," "flexibility," "individual-
ized plan of care," "consumer-directed," and "quality assurance,"
represent music to our ears in Wisconsin. And possibly the best
feature is that the plan appears to be adequately funded to meet
the long-term care needs of people with disabilities, including the

elderly.
At full implementation, after the proposed 8-year phase-in, Wis-

consin is likely to receive over $750 million in fiscal year 2003,
based on a 2-percent share of the proposed authorizations that are
included in the plan.

By way of comparison, as you well know. Senator, Wisconsin's

Community Options Program in State fiscal year 1995 will reach
total Federal and State funding of $100 million. So this would be
more than a seven-fold increase. I know that we have to account
for some inflation there, but this is, you know, appears to be an

adequately funded program.
Even before the plan was introduced, we heard rumors that the

long-term care piece might be dropped or it would be the first thing
eliminated when there is not enough money to include it. I think
we can afford it if we would learn from the dozen years of experi-
ence in Wisconsin that it is essential to consider the relationship
between publicly funded community-based care and institutional

long-term care.

A recent Wisconsin study by the Department of Health and So-
cial Services showed that two community-based Federal waiver

long-term care programs. Community Options Program Waiver and
Community Integration Program II programs, resulted in total

public savings of over $17 million in 1992 by providing community-
based care instead of institutional care. If even a fraction of this

reduction in public spending could be replicated in the other 49
States, it would be more than enough money to fund community-
based long-term care at the authorization level proposed in the
President's plan.

Therefore, one of my recommendations for improving the plan is

to provide fiscal incentives for States to limit or reduce institu-

tional capacity.
Wisconsin, for example, as you know, imposed a moratorium on

nursing home bed construction when the Community Options Pro-

gram was initiated in 1981.

Also, I think, and this is kind of critical, the proposed act actu-

ally has a provision to increase Federal funds for those State plans
which reduce Federal expenditures for medical assistance under
the State Medicaid plan for home- and community-based services.

I recommend that this part be amended to include all Federal ex-

penditures for medical assistance, including expenditures for insti-

tutional care.

In other words, the State plans could be increased for savings on
the institutional side, as well as the home- and community-based
waiver side of the medical assistance program.

In other words, I believe we must fundamentally reform the pro-
vision, and I use that word again, reform, the provision of long-
term care services in this country in order to be able to afford it

and to meet the preferences of the growing element of population
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to receive such care at home and by their family members or from
their family members.
Another area that I believe needs to be changed involves the

lengthy Part 3 on private long-term insurance. I think all of this

could be eliminated with the possible exception of requiring insur-

ers to comply with the long-term insurance provisions of the Na-
tional Association of Insurance Commissioners Model Act and
Model Regulations.
Most studies have shown that there is an extremely small num-

ber of people who should purchase long-term care insurance and
better regulations, while necessary, have led to even higher costs.

So lower income people basically can't afford it anjrway. By elimi-

nating Part 3 and Part 4, you will eliminate the creation of a new
Federal bureaucracy and save the money for more important long-
term care services without, in my opinion, harming the people in

need of long-term care.

I am including additional written testimony further detailing our
concerns about long-term care insurance and publicly funded incen-

tives to encourage people to buy long-term care insurance policies,
and this is appended to my testimony.

Finally, I would just briefly mention other positive elements of

the proposal related to long-term care.

We support the provisions of Part 2 regarding Medicaid nursing
home improvements which allow Medicaid beneficiaries to retain

up to $12,000 in assets and increases the monthly living allowance
to $70 a month. I think this is an effort, or I believe it's probably
an effort, to provide some fairness with a spousal impoverishment
to an individual in a nursing home who still can only keep $2,000
in assets.

I would like to do a little more thinking about the up to, where
it provides the—States the flexibility, like spousal impoverishment,
to go from a minimum up to a maximum.
One of my concerns there is that like spousal impoverishment, it

becomes a battle then in every State where to set the minimum or

the maximum or somewhere in between, and even in Wisconsin, al-

though we've set it at the maximum in both income and assets,
we've had to revisit that issue twice already, you know, to try to

defeat cutting it back. So I would like to do a little more thinking
about whether setting it at some specific level for the whole coun-

try might be a better way to go about it, although I think Wiscon-
sin would be one of the States that would raise those levels, to pro-
vide some fairness with the spousal impoverishment.
We also certainly support the demonstration and evaluation part

which provides for demonstration projects to test the effectiveness

of integrating acute and long-term care services. I think that's

something that we're already looking to in Wisconsin, that would
be nice to be able to find some money to do it.

In conclusion, community-based long-term care is an issue which
deserves bipartisan support. We have had that support in Wiscon-
sin and we should have it in Washington, DC. I intend to urge the
Wisconsin congressional delegation to work for a good community-
based long-term care program which is similar to Wisconsin's and
similar to the one proposed by the President. Efforts to amend the

proposed plan to eliminate or restrict a State administration or to
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reduce the flexibility in providing the services, which have been the

strength of Wisconsin's program, should be resisted and defeated.
I also intend to urge Governor Thompson to use his influence at

the national level to work for a community-based long-term care

program which represents a partnership between Federal and
State governments to meet the long-term care needs of their citi-

zens.

Thanks again for this opportunity. I think possibly this is the
first step, Senator, in getting the word out about the long-term care

component of the Health Security Act, and it's the word I think we
really need to get out. We're not hearing enough about it, so thank
you very much for starting the process today.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Frazier follows:]
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On behalf of the Coalition of Wisconsin Aging Groups (CWAG), an advocacy

organization for Wisconsin's older citizens, I want to say how pleased we are that Community-

Based Long Term Care is included in the President's Health Security Act. Long term care is one

of the most important issues for the elderly and their families. Older people fear having to go

into a nursing home (or similar institution)
—

they want to remain in their own homes for as

long as possible. For example, I have never had an older person say to me "I would really like

to go into a nursing home."

As far as I know, this is the first ever White House proposal on long term care and it

appears to be based on the best practices of the states, including Wisconsin, which have

pioneered the implementation of community-based long term care as an alternative to

institutional care. One of the problems of most, if not all, of the other health care reform plans

is the absence or lack of specificity about long term care. Such features of the Administration's

long term care plan as "community-based" long term care, "state administered," "flexibility,"

"individualized plan of care," "consumer-directed," and "quality assurance" represent "music to

our e2irs" in Wisconsin. And possibly the best feature is that the plan appears to be adequately

funded to meet the long term care needs of people with disabilities, including the elderly. At full

implementation, after the eight year phase-in, Wisconsin is likely to receive over $750,000,000

in FY 2003 based on a 2% share of the proposed authorizations. In comparison, Wisconsin's

Community Options Program will total (state and federal funds) approximately $100,000,000 in

SFY 1995.

Even before the plan was introduced, we heard rumors that the long term care piece might

be dropped or it will be the first thing to be eliminated when there is not enough money available

to include it. I think we can afford it if we learn from the dozen years of experience in

Wisconsin that it is essential to consider the relationship between publicly-funded community

based long term care and institutional long term care. A recent Wisconsin study by the

Department of Health and Social Services showed that two community-based federal waiver long

term care programs (Community Options Program Waiver and Community Integration Program

II) resulted in a total public savings of over $17,000,000 in 1992 by providing community care

instead of institutional care. If even a fraction of this reduction in public spending could be

replicated in the other 49 states it would be more than enough money to fund community-based

long term care at the authorization levels proposed in the President's plan.
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November 11, 1993

U.S. Senator Russ Feingold
502 Hart Senate Office Building
Washington, D.C. 20510-4904

Dear Senator Feingold:

We appreciate the opportunity to share with you our position on the
long-term care portions of the Clinton Administration's health care
reform proposal. You specifically asked for our comments relative
to the provisions regarding long-term care insurance.

Like you, we were very pleased to see the inclusion of the Home and
Community- Based Care ( HCBC ) Program in the Clinton plan. Not only
do we feel "Wisconsin pride"; more importantly, we see it as a
national COP program that will accomplish the same two goals for
the nation as it has for Wisconsin: providing consumers with a real
choice in long-term care and containing health care costs by
providing a cost-effective alternative to institutionalization.

The inclusion of the long-term care insurance piece, however,
received a less enthusiastic response here. As you will no doubt
recall, we have never been very enthusiastic about long-term care
insurance as a potential answer to the long-term care financing
crisis for the following major reasons:

(1) It is only affordable to the middle and (mostly) upper income
individuals - those who could conceivably pay for needed long-
term care out of savings anyway and were least at risk of ever
qualifying for Medicaid.

(2) Development of private long-term care insurance is not a cost-
containment measure in that it provides long-term care
providers with no incentive to contain costs; to the contrary,
health insurers and policyholder co-pays will pay the private
pay rate in a nursing home rate that will unquestionably be
higher than a Medicaid patient.

(3) Assuming the promotion of private long-term care insurance
works, the two-tiered access to and quality of care -- private
pay vs. Medicaid patients -- will be perpetuated, with poor
folks (the Medicaid patients) continuing to experience
discrimination in access and quality of care.

(4) Administrative costs of long-term care insurance, like all
insurance will be high and are unnecessary "health care costs"
that a more universal, single-payer plan could avoid.

(5) Long-term care insurance is unproven -- and the results of
this potentially dangerous experiment will not be in for
decades; most purchasers are in their 60 ' s and 70 's, and those
relatively few who will need expensive and extensive long-term
care will not need it until well into their 80 's.

(6) State regulation of private long-term care insurance is
extremely varied and has experienced tremendous changes,
raising consumers' fears that policies bought in good faith
will quickly becoming obsolete. The industry speaks regularly
of "a new generation of policies,

" which is clear proof that
the industry's experimentation and evolution is the consumers'
loss. State differences also cause problems of portability,
different access to policies, different licensing requirements
of agents, etc.
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Therefore, one of my recommendations for improving the plan is to provide fiscal

incentives for states to limit or reduce institutional capacity. Wisconsin, for example, imposed

a moratorium on nursing home bed construction when the Community Options Program was

initiated in 1981. Also, the proposed act has a provision to increase federal funds for state plans

which reduce federal expenditures for medical assistance under the State Medicaid plan for home

and community based services (Sec. 2109(aX5)(c)). I recommend that this part be amended to

include all federal expenditures for medical assistance, including expenditures for institutional

care. I believe that we must fundamentally reform the provision of long term care services in

this country in order to be able to afford it, and to meet the preferences of the growing elderly

population to receive such care at home and from their families.

Another area that I believe needs to be changed involves the lengthy Part 3 on Private

Long Term Care Insurance. I think that all of this could be eliminated with the possible

exception of requiring insurers to comply with the long term care insurance provisions of the

National Association of Insurance Commissioners (NAIC) Model Act and Model Regulations.

Most studies have shown that there is an extremely small number of people who should purchase

long term care insurance and better regulations, while necessary, have led to even higher costs.

By eliminating Part 3 (with the exception mentioned above) and Part 4, you will eliminate the

creation of a new federal bureaucracy and save the money for more important long term care

services without harming people in need of long term care. (I am including additional written

testimony further detailing our concerns about long term care insurance and publicly-funded

incentives to encourage people to buy long term care insurance policies).

Finally, I would just briefly mention other positive elements of the proposed act related

to long term care. We support the provisions of Part 2 regarding Medicaid nursing home

improvements which allow Medicaid beneficiaries to retain up to $12,000 in assets and increases

the monthly living allowance to $70 a month. We also support the demonstration and evaluation

part which provides for demonstration projects to test the effectiveness of integrating acute and

long term care services.

In conclusion, community-based long term care is an issue that deserves bi-partisan

support. It has had such support in Wisconsin and it should have in Washington, D.C. I intend

to urge the Wisconsin Congressional delegation to work for a good community based long term

care program which is similar to Wisconsin's and similar to the one proposed by the President.

Efforts to amend the proposal to eliminate or restrict state administration or to reduce the

flexibility in providing services, which has been the strength of Wisconsin's program, should be

resisted and defeated. I also intend to urge Governor Thompson to use his influence at the

national level to work for a community-based long term care program which represents a

partnership between federal and state governments to meet the long term care needs of their

citizens.
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Even worse, some states were pursuing Medicaid waivers to promote
the sale of long-term care insurance through development of "Long-
Term Care Partnership" programs under which, individuals who "saved
the state Medicaid program dollars,

"
by purchasing a nursing home

insurance policy that eventually paid out benefits, could qualify
for Medicaid without the otherwise necessary spenddown and thus
retain assets up to a level comparable to which their policy had
paid out benefits. Implementation of such a proposal would require
that the state be given a "waiver" by the federal government, since
normal Medicaid eligibility rules would not be adhered to in these
situations. We remain opposed to these programs for reasons
outlined in a Position Paper that we would be happy to share with
you.

Back to the policies themselves. If promotion of long-term care
insurance is nevertheless encouraged, we urge Congress to set HIGH
minimum standards for its sale, and to use Wisconsin's regulation
as a model. Wisconsin regulations had been strengthened (1981),
weakened (1987) and then strengthened again (1991) and we believe
are now some of the best in the nation. All of these features
should be contained in any federal minimums as well as the
additional criteria outlined In the draft of the Clinton plan. The
Wisconsin regulations can be found at Wis. Adm. Code INS §§ 3.46,
3.455 and 3.55, the highlights of which are:

( 1 ) Distinguishes between LONG-TERM CARE . NURSING HOME, and HOME
HEALTH CARE insurance. All pay indemnity benefits for covered
services. Affects group policies too.

(2) Limits on daily benefits: (a) lowest benefit not less than
S30 per day; and (b) daily benefit limits which do not vary by
more than 50% between benefits.

(3) Elimination periods of 365 days or less.

If company offers plan with an elimination period exceeding
180 days, it must offer an identical plan with an elimination

period of less than 180 days.
NOTE: Days of Medicare coverage are counted in determining

expiration of elimination period. (4)(d)

(4) Lifetime maximum benefit of not less than 365 days after

Medicare benefits exhausted.
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(5) Provide coverage of custodial care without regard to medical

necessity. Attending physician certification is CONCLUSIVE
for plan of care, "activities of daily living" and level of
care. (Note: policy definitions of "activities of daily living
may differ. )

(6) Prior Hospitalization or prior institutionalization

requirements prohibited.

(7) May not exclude coverage for irreversible dementia.

(8) Must provide coverage without distinction based on type of

illness, treatment, medical condition or accident.
EXCEPTION: May exclude or limit coverage for lawful pre-
existing conditions or for services paid for by the

government, worker's compensation, motor vehicle no-fault,
etc., services provided by family members or others for which
no charge in normally made in absence of insurance.

(9) Substantial coverage of facilities and programs for any
benefits it provides in an institutional setting.

(10) If community-based setting:

(a) may not exclude coverage for care including, but not
limited to home health care, by requiring care be

"medically necessary"; first or simultaneously receiving
nursing or therapy services; acute conditions; or
Medicare-certified providers.

(b) must provide substantial coverage of facilities and

programs for any benefits it provides for care in

community-based settings.

(c) coverage for all types of care provided by state-licensed
or Medicare-certified home health agencies.

(d) may not have prior higher level of care requirements for
custodial care coverage.

(11) 30-day right to return policy or rider.

(12) Certain captions required.
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(13) Extension of benefits on termination for any reason to cover
an existing institutionalization (waiver of premium).

(14) Guaranty of renewability for life if individual policy.

(15) Use of Term "Long-Term Care"

Only policies providing substantial coverage of care in both
institutional and community-based setting may use term "long-
term care." (Careful of older policies!)

(16) Marketing Practices
Requires delivery of approved outline of coverage and OCX's
"Guide to Long-Term Care" at solicitation.

(17) Replacement
a. Replacement policies must waive pre-existing condition,

waiting, or elimination periods to the extent that
similar exclusions were satisfied under the original
policy.

b. Agents are required to obtain and submit information
about other coverage applicant has or had and to

investigate "suitability."

c. Replacement group policies must cover all insureds under
former policy.

(18) Inflation Protection
Wisconsin law requires only that insurers and agents must
offer at time of solicitation of a policy, an alternative

policy which has same benefits WITH inflation protection and
that the inflation protection must at minimum provide yearly
increase of limits at rate equal to NOT LESS than 5%

compounded or consumer price index, OR may pay benefits by
percentage, not less than 80% of actual or reasonable charges.
We believe this is weak - should be MANDATORY inflation

protection, as proposed in Clinton plan.

(19) Underwriting - Attempts to limit "post-claims underwriting,"
but only for applicants age 75 or older, (ageist!)
May not issue long-term care policy or life insurance/long-
term care policy to applicants 75 or older, unless insurer
gets copy of physician exam, assessment of functional
capacity, attending physician statement, or copies of medical
record .

(20) Commission Limits - First-year agent commissions limited to
400% of second and subsequent year commissions and no more
than renewal commissions for replacements. Again, we think
this is not strong enough - there must not be any incentive to

replace with inappropriate insurance. Thus, first year
commissions and renewal commissions should be the same,

encouraging good service, not switches to new policies.

Again, we believe that if private long-term care insurance is going
to be a part of the health care reform plan ultimately passed by
Congress, we urge inclusion of the Wisconsin minimal regulations as
well as those proposed in the Clinton Administratin ' s proposa. We
hope that the above sufficiently outlines our position on long-term
care insurance. As always, please contact us if we can provide any
additional clarification or explanation.

Sincerely,

Betsy J. Abramson, Director
CWAG Elder Law Center
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Senator Feingold. Before we go to the other Tom, of course, Tom
Frazier is the director of Wisconsin Coalition on Aging Groups, let

me just say that I think that there is reason to believe that we can
have bipartisan activity on the Senate, the U.S. Senate Committee
on Aging is not only bipartisan, but quite a few members of the

committee, of both parties, seem reasonable people. Just for exam-
ple, Senator William Cohen of Maine, a Republican, a number of

really good people from Maine attended a hearing on this issue.

The other thing I want to make you people understand is there
is time now to think, as Tom wishes to do, about some portions of
this plan. We do not expect serious activity on the whole health
care plan at least until, well, realistically, February, because as I

understand, it's my first time through, we're not really in there
much in January, but we should hit it pretty hard in February, so
I think you should be aware of this thought that there is some time
to go back to consumers and advocates and think about alter-

natives.

One quick point on the funding. I have never heard you say be-
fore it's enough money. [Laughter.]

That's a praise. Now a caution. I'm not sure it'll be enough
money by the time we get done.
Mr. Frazier. Right.
Senator Feingold. When we started off with this thing, at the

so-called university, they told us it was $80 billion. Well, then it

became $62 billion. Now what is it, $57 over 5 years?
Mr. Slighter. I think that's right.
Senator Feingold. Not because they're saying they don't want to

do it. They've delayed the implementation. My understanding is it's

going to be done in 5 years? Now it's 8 years. The next thing that
could happen is in the eighth year they could cut down the money.
There could come a point where I wouldn't hear those sweet words
that you think it's enough money.
Mr. Frazier. If I could comment on that.

You know, part of the whole health care reform, we've heard a
lot about funding it with the savings, you know, from other pro-
grams, and this is an area where we're talking about, like it's an
expenditure, and that's why I think we have to tie it to savings
which can be accomplished in other parts of the budget, particu-

larly the institutional side, which then will provide enough money
to fund it.

Senator Feingold. Okay. Very good. Thanks, Tom.
Now Tom Hlavacek, who's the director of the City of Milwaukee

Office of Wisconsin Coalition for Advocacy.

TOM HLAVACEK, MILWALTKEE OFFICE DIRECTOR, WISCONSIN
COALITION FOR ADVOCACY, MILWAUKEE, WI

Mr. Hlavacek. Thank you. Senator Feingold, for holding this

hearing on what I believe is clearly the single most important piece
of Federal policy facing Americans with disabilities today. And
that's President Clinton's proposed Health Security Act and, in spe-
cific, the home- and community-based components of the plan.
And I would also like to thank Senator Kohl through his rep-

resentative for voicing his opinions on this topic. I know that Sen-
ator Kohl is also a strong proponent of long-term care issues.
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I think that I can say on behalf of the entire disabihty commu-
nity that we are all extremely pleased that long-term care is an im-

portant central component of the Clinton plan. Those of us who
have been involved in the independent living movement are excited
to see the principles and values that we all hold dear embodied in

some of the main components of the proposal.
We would also like to thank you, Senator Feingold, for taking the

initiative and leadership that all of us in Wisconsin have come to

expect of you on this issue. Your speeches on the Senate floor have
been very compelling and have proven you to be the champion of

disability rights on the national level just as you always were here
in Wisconsin.
From our different perspectives you and I have seen the growth

of the independent living movement from its earliest days as a re-

sponse to unnecessary institutionalization, to today where many
options exist for people with disabilities, although access to service,

long waiting lists, and an overuse of institutional care still plague
us.

In Milwaukee County we recently sent a mailing to over 700 peo-
ple who are on waiting lists for community services. The person
who's first on the list has been on the list since 1981, 12 years. The
critical element of knowing about that person is that she lives at
home with her family. Families are the people that are at the

greatest disadvantage under our current system. If people have a
roof over their heads they're going to stay on the waiting lists.

That's the bottom line. We need to have an entitlement to commu-
nity services. I'm glad you're not afraid to say it, and I'm certainly
not afraid to say it either.

You are also right. Senator Feingold, to include the stories from
people from Wisconsin in your Senate speeches, and I would like
to follow your lead today and tell you about somebody that I know
who is also, by the way, named Russ.
Russ is a person that I could sum up in two words—True gen-

tleman. I have known Russ for almost 10 years and I have been
with him countless times, and I could probably count on one hand
the number of times I have seen Russ when he was not wearing
a tie.

Others have described Russ as follows: severe cerebral palsy,
spastic quadriplegic, totally dependent on others, no articulate

speech, incapable of self-direction, severe cognitive limitations.
I would describe Russ this way: Active citizen, trusted neighbor,

excellent tenant, fair employer, spokesperson, advocate, good
friend, and Russ would not have been able to assume many of
these valued roles if it were not for community-based long-term
care. Russ lives on his own in a two bedroom apartment in south-
western Milwaukee County with a live-in attendant and some help
from a local nonprofit agency. Russ holds the lease on his apart-
ment, he hires and fires his own attendants, he manages his own
funds, and he can always be counted on to attend a public hearing,
provide testimony, or write a letter on an issue.

Before living on his own Russ spent most of his adult life in

nursing homes, and he couldn't wait to get out when we helped
him move to his own apartment. A combination of COP, MA waiver
and community aids funding made it possible for Russ to establish
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his independence, and we're all better off because of it. Russ has
made a positive contribution to our community while living in a

setting that not only is where he wants to be but also costs a lot

less than a nursing home.
Now, Russ is a person who clearly would meet the eligibility

screen for the newly proposed home- and community-based long-
term care program, and the central question for all of us to answer
is this: Will Russ have the same life that he has now under the
Clinton proposal?

Will he be able to select his own providers?
Who will pay his attendants, Russ or the State?
Will Russ be able to get a new, customized power wheelchair

when his old one wears out?
Will he be able to use his money to make accessibility modifica-

tions to his home?
Who will decide when his helpers are needed, Russ or an agency?
Will somebody tell Russ the qualifications and certifications his

workers have to have, thereby eliminating the guy down the hall

who does respite on weekends?
I am excited to say that almost all the answers to the above

questions so far are "yes" in the Clinton proposal, but there are
some areas that we need to look at, some areas that we could make
stronger.

I would like to start with things that I see as the clearest

strengths of the Clinton proposal. We see it to be a bold, exciting,

progressive and long-awaited proposal. We are extremely pleased to

hear the words, "choice," "community-directed," "consumer-di-

rected," "flexible," "individualized," and "direct cash payment" in

the plan, since they are central to Russ's quality of life right now.
It's a testament to you and others from Wisconsin who work with

the task force chaired by Hillary Rodham Clinton, and I don't think
that she could get enough credit for the work that she's done, that
these concepts are included in the plan.

In specific, the plan does create a new long-term care program,
and eligibility is based on functional need rather than on income,
family composition, age, or diagnosis. That's important, because in-

dividuals with severe disabilities will no longer have to impoverish
themselves or their families in order to become eligible for the
home- and community-based services they need.

All States would be required to include individualized assess-

ment and service planning and personal assistance services to help
individuals with activities of daily living.

States can also choose to include in their plans case manage-
ment, homemaker and chore assistance, home modification, respite
services, assistive technology, adult day care services, habilitation

and rehabilitation, supported employment, and home health serv-

ices. That's a wonderful menu for States to choose from. The new
home- and community-based program requires States to offer both
consumer-directed and agency-administered personal assistance

services, and States may elect to offer vouchers or cash directly to

individuals who are eligible.
You were asking before the question about how many people

would qualify. I don't think that's the issue. The issue is choice. We
need to let people have choices and have options in the community
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just like the Community Options Program always did. We need to

figure out ways to support people in having choices, not to make
choices for them, and this proposal would do that in giving a choice

of consumer-directed or agency-administered services.

The funding is substantial. The Federal matching funds of 75 to

95 percent will mean in the first year, from my calculations, about
22 million new dollars for Wisconsin. Russ is going to love to hear
that when I explain that to him, because it means many of his

friends might be able to get off of waiting lists and into services.

And of course. States will have the option of continuing to pro-
vide the existing Medicaid-funded community long-term services to

both low-income people and to Katie Beckett children who don't

meet the functional ability criteria for the new home-based pro-

gram. And States also will be required to serve at least the same
number of low-income individuals as they served in fiscal year
1993.
There's two other strengths of the Clinton proposal that I'm sure

Russ would admire. I certainly do. Tom mentioned the first one
about the residents of nursing homes being able to keep up to $70

per month for personal needs. The other issue is that nursing
homes would be required, on a regular basis, to inform residents

about the existence of the home/community-based program, so peo-

ple will continuously have that option and that choice in front of

them.
Also we support the proposal that's in the plan to give States the

option to integrate their institutional and community-based fund-

ing under one system so that budgeting and policymaking could be
all-inclusive.

Another proposal that's great is a tax credit to people with dis-

abilities who need personal assistant services to enable them to

work. This credit would help many people, including people like

Bob, write off a substantial portion of their personal care and
would help to make work a reality.

There's a couple issues which I would like to see be stronger, and
I hope that we can work together on these. Unfortunately, this pro-

posal still has an institutional bias. Basically it provides a capped
funding level for the home- and community-based side and an

open-ended entitlement for the ICFMR and nursing home side.

As Tom pointed out. Senator Feingold, and as you know, it was
a combination of COP and a moratorium on new nursing home
beds that led to the dramatic shift in Wisconsin. We propose the

exact opposite to the Clinton proposal, a cap on the nursing home
side and an open-ended entitlement to home- and community-
based services. Only in that way will States really have the true

financial incentives to overhaul their long-term care systems, and
eliminate the institutional bias that now exists.

We have some concerns about what might happen if the funding
does not remain adequate. We're concerned that people might be
shifted into this new program which will have a higher Federal

match, and the services may not be the same if the funding erodes,
and people might wind up losing services in that process. In part,
will be up to us to work hard on the State level to work to make
sure that doesn't happen.
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The other issue we're concerned about is that so far the only
mandated service is personal assistant service, and we think that
there could be more mandated benefit levels specified in the Clin-
ton proposal. We do have a concern about the cost-sharing proposal
that's in there. I think that proposal could impose a financial obsta-
cle to obtaining long-term care to many people with disabilities and
their families. There is no stop-loss on the cost-sharing proposal as
we've had in Wisconsin, so people would get to the point of being
impoverished in order to purchase their services, which often hap-
pens today to people.
And finally, without Federal guidelines that ensure that people

with intensive, high-cost long-term care needs receive at least a
certain percentage of the new funding, I'm concerned that States
are going to have an incentive to distribute those funds over the

greatest number of people, once again, because of the higher
match.
Now, you're familiar, of course, in Wisconsin with the high-cost

case plan provisions that we built into COP to take care of just
that issue, and it seems that a high-cost provision would be useful
in the Clinton proposal also.

There are some concerns that we have about the basic benefit

package and how that interrelates with the long-term care pack-
age. I won't go into these now, but we can discuss them at some
other point in time, but there are issues around issues like cus-
tomized wheelchairs, outpatient physical and occupational therapy,
and others that need to be addressed in the basic benefits package,
not in the long-term care piece; but they need to be covered some-
where, otherwise people will not receive services they currently are

eligible for under Title lA.

In closing, we feel that the Clinton proposal for home- and com-

munity-based long-term care services is an enormously important
step on the road to independence, integration, and productivity for

people with disabilities, and it deserves our support.
Long-term care is not simply an add-on to the overall national

health debate. It is the litmus test by which all proposed plans
must be evaluated.
As you have already stated, Senator Feingold, without long-term

care we cannot hope to control acute care costs. It is also the case
that without long-term care we cannot hope to obtain the better fu-

ture promised by the Americans With Disabilities Act. With long-
term care, we can save money while we provide support to people
in the settings that all of us agree are the best for everyone, family
homes instead of nursing homes, living rooms instead of hospital
rooms.
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I don't need to remind you, Senator Feingold, that there are

many other people Hke Russ who are still trapped in nursing
homes. Across our Nation there are thousands of men like Russ
who will probably die before their name comes up on a waiting list.

They will not get a chance to enjoy the simple things in life that
the rest of us take for granted, and so for all the Russes in Amer-
ica, we will be happy to work with you, Senator Feingold, to con-
tinue to refine the proposal and to maintain and strengthen the
values of consumer choice and flexibility that are embodied in the

plan. Thank you again for all your work.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Hlavacek follows:]
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Thank you. Senator Feingold, for holding this hearing on what is clearly the single most

important piece of federal policy effecting Americans with disabilities today, President

Clinton's proposed Health Security Act, and, specifically, the provisions within the Act

that apply to home and community based long term care services. I think I can say on
behalf of the entire disability commimity that we are all extremely pleased that long term

care is an important, central component of the Clinton plaiL Those of us who have been
involved in the independent living movement are excited to see the principles and values

we aU hold dear embodied in some of the main components of the proposal

And thank you again. Senator, for taking the kind of initiative and leadership that all of

us in Wisconsin have come to expect of you on this critical issue. You have proven once

again, by your compelling speeches from the Senate floor, and by your tireless efforts to

shape the debate over long term care, that you continue to be a champion of disability

rights on the national level, just as you always were here at home.

From our different perspectives, you and I have seen the growth of the independent

living movement from its earliest days as a response to unnecessary institutionalization, to

today where many options exist for people with disabilities, although access to services,

long waiting lists, and a continued over-reliance on institutional care still plague us.

You are known to many as the "Father of COP" in Wisconsin, and for many years your
biennial "Blueprint" of long term care was the bible we all used to move toward the

future. And now it seems we are on the verge of having our Commimity Options

Program form the basis, at least in principle, of parts of our national long term care

policy. It is my hope in the remainder of this testimony to join you in your efforts to

make a strong proposal even stronger, and to emphasize the central values that must

remain in the proposal as it is deUberated.

In times like these, when decisions will be made that will influence the lives of milhons of

people with disabilities, and when our eyes and minds are focussed on complex policy

issues, we must be sure that we remember the individual people that will be effected by
our decisions.

You were right. Senator Feingold, to include the stories of people from Wisconsin in

your Senate speeches. I would like to follow your lead today and tell you about someone
I know who is also named Russ.

Russ is a person that I could stmi up in two words: true gendeman. I have known Russ
for almost ten years and been with him countless times. I can probably count on one
hand the number of times I have seen Russ when he was not wearing a tie. Others have
described Russ as follows: severe cerebral palsy, spastic quadriplegic. Totally dependent
on others. No articulate speech. Incapable of self-direction. I would describe Russ this

way: active citizen, trusted neighbor, excellent tenant, fair employer, spokesperson,
advocate, good friend. Russ would not have been able to assume many of these valued
roles if it were not for community based long term care.

Russ lives on his own in a two bedroom apartment in southwestern Milwaukee County
with a live-in attendant and some help from a local agency. Russ holds the lease on his

apartment; hires, and fires his own attendants; manages his own funds; and can ahvays be
counted on to attend a public hearing, provide testimony or write a letter on an issue.
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Before living on his own, Russ spent most of his adult life in nursing homes. A combina-
tion of COP, MA waiver and Community Aids funding made it possible for Russ to

establish his independence, and we are all better off because of it. Russ has made a

positive contribution to our community while living in a setting that not only is where he
wants to be, but also costs a lot less than a nursing home.

Russ is a person who clearly would meet the eligibility screen for the newly proposed
home and community based long term care program.

The central question for us all is: Will Russ have the same life he has now under the

President's proposal? Will he be able to select his own care providers? Who will pay his

attendant - Russ or the state? Will Russ be able to get a new customized power
wheelchair when his old one wears out? WiD he be able to use his money to make
accessibility modifications to his home? Who will decide when his helpers are needed -

Russ or an agency? Will somebody tell Russ the qualifications and certifications his

workers have to have -
thereby eliminating the guy down the haU who does respite on

weekends?

Let's look at what I see to be the major strengths and the areas that could be stronger in

the proposed plan, and while we do, let's keep Russ in our minds.

Strftnn»ths of the Qinton Proposal

There are many provisions of the Clinton plan that are bold, exciting, progressive and

long awaited by the disability community.

We are extremely pleased to read the words "choice", "consumer directed", "flexibility",

"individualized", and "direct cash payment" in the plan, since they are central to Russ'

quality of life. It is a testament to you and others firom Wisconsin who worked with the

task force chaired by Hillary Rodham Clinton that these concepts are included in the

plan.

In specific, the plan creates a new non-Medicaid home and commimity based (HCB)
services program targeted for persons with the most severe disabilities that is an entitle-

ment based on functional need rather than on income, family composition, age, or

diagnosis. Individuals with severe disabilities will no longer have to impoverish them-
selves or their families in order to become eligible for the HCB services they need.

All states would be required to include the following home and community based
benefits: individualized assessment and service planning; and personal assistance services

with activities of dafly living. States can also choose to include in their plans, case

management, homemaker and chore assistance, home modification, respite services,
assistive technology, adult day services, habilitation and rehabilitation, supported employ-
ment, and home health services. The new HCB program requires states to offer both
consmner-directed and agency-administered personal assistance services, and states may
elect to offer vouchers or cash directly to eligible individuals. There is strong language
related to honoring consumer choice in the planning and delivery of services. On all of
the above, I think it's fair to say that my friend Russ would be pleased.

Federal matching funds of 75-95% (approximately 20-25% higher than current Medicaid

matching rates) will be allocated to states on a formulas basis, and will be phased in 20%
per year between FY 1996-2000. The President's proposal would increase resources for

Home and Community Based Long Term Care (which is currently $3.5 billion federal
dollars for all Medicaid HCB waivers), by 4.5 bilUon in the first year of implementation.
Wisconsin would stand to receive ahnost $22,500,000 in the first year, which would

certainly be wonderful news to Russ, since it would mean many of his friends would be
able to get off of long waiting lists and into services.

States win have the option of continuing to provide Medicaid community long term care
services to low income persons and "Katie Beckett" children who do not meet the
functional eligibility criteria for the new HCB program for persons with the most severe
disabilities. Benefits are to be determined by the state and can include any community
long term care services previously funded under Medicaid.
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States will be required to continue to serve at least the same number of low income

individuals as they served in their FY 1993 Medicaid community long tenn care program.

There are two other strengths of the Clinton proposal that I am siu'e Russ would admire.

The first has to do with changes in nursing home facility services. Residents would be

able to keep $70 per month for personal needs, and the nursing home would be re-

quired, on a regular basis to inform residents about the existence of the home and

commimity based program. Also, we support the proposal to give states the option to

integrate their institutional and community based funding under one system, so that

budgeting and policy making could be all-inclusive.

The second proposal would give a tax credit to people with disabilities who need

personal assistance services to enable them to work. This credit would allow people to

write off a substantial portion of the cost of their personal care, and would certainly help

to make work a reality for many people with disabilities.

Once again, at this point I think my friend Russ would still be very much impressed. But

there are a few issue areas that he and I think would make the overall plan stronger.

Issues Related to Funding

Long term care reform in the Clinton plan will continue to have an "institutional bias" by

capping the new federal home and commimity based services for persons with severe

disabihties while placing no caps on available federal matching funds for ICFs-MR or

skilled nursing facilities. We must remind the administration. Senator Feingold, that it

was the combination of the Community Options Program and the moratorium on new

nursing home beds that began the dramatic shift away from institutional forms of care in

Wisconsin. We would propose the exact opposite of the Clinton proposal: a cap on

available federal matching funds for ICFs-MR and skilled nursing fadhties, and an open-

ended entitlement to home and commimity based services. Only in this way will states

have the true financial incentives to overhaul their long term care systems.

If, in the political process, funding for the long term care provisions is reduced, or if the

plan is poorly implemented by the state, this new home and community based services

program may fiafl to provide the support that people with the most severe disabilities

need to live in their own homes and communities. This could happen as follows.

Because of the higher federal matching funds available in the proposal, states will have a

financial incentive to move people like Russ fi'om Medicaid waiver HCB services to the

new HCB program with a higher federal match, but with potentially lower benefit levels.

Even if Russ stays in his current waiver services, there are no federal requirements that

states have to continue providing them in the same way. Although the Clinton plan

requires a maintenance of effort for all current Medicaid waiver service recipients, the

lack of a system maintenance of effort requirement could result in lesser services for

many currently eligible Medicaid recipients who will not be eligible for the new Home
and community based services program. This could potentially threaten Russ' current

funding sources and thereby his independence.

We must remember that aside from personal assistance services, there are no minimum
benefit levels specified in the Clinton proposal. State flexibility in defining how to use

the new federally funded block grant for home and community based services is good,

but as you have been reminding everyone. Senator, we must find the balance between

giving states the flexibiUty they need to meet the tests of consumer direction, choice, and

flexibihty, while at the same time assuring people like Russ that their situation is stable.
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Issues Related to Equity
"^

Significant cost-sharing is proposed that will impose a financial obstacle to obtaining long
term care services for many persons with disabilities and their families. There is also no

stop-loss proposed on cost-sharing for long term care services. This could pose a

finemcial hardship on middle income families with children with disabilities, resulting in

the impoverishment that often occurs today.

And finally, without federal guidelines insuring that persons with intensive long term care

needs receive at least a certain percentage of the federal funding for long term care,

states may choose to distribute these funds in a way that serves as many people as

possible, discriminating against persons with the most expensive needs. You are of

course familiar with the high cost case plan provisions that are an integral part of the

Wisconsin COP program. It seems that a high cost provision would be useful in the

Clinton proposal also.

Issues Related to the InterrelatioDship of the Long Term Care Plan with the Basic

Benefit Package

We are concerned about shortcomings in the guaranteed basic benefit package that

represent items many people on Medical Assistance currently already receive, such as

customized prosthetic and orthotic devices, customized seating systems in wheelchairs,
and augmentative communication devices. If these items are also not covered in the

state long term care benefit package, the possibility exists that people will no longer have
access to them or will have to purchase supplemental insurance in order to obtain them.

Another example exists in the provision of outpatient rehabilitation services such as

occupational therapy, physical therapy, and speech pathology services. In the basic

benefits package, these services are only provided as a result of injury or illness. Many
people like Russ use these therapies for minimizing limitations due to a birth disorder or
the process of aging. Customers of the long term care program will need these services

to maintain their independence and may not be able to obtain them.

Once again, the issues raised above are for the purpose of making a strong proposal
even stronger, and are not intended as a criticism of the overall proposal

In closing, we feel that the Clinton proposal for home and community based long term
care services is an enormously important step on the road to independence, integration,
and productivity for people with disabilities and deserves bi-partisan support. Long Term
Care is not simply an add-on to the overall national health debate, it is the litmus test by
which all proposed plans must be evaluated. As you have already stated, without long
term care, we can not hope to control acute care costs. It is also the case that without

long term care, we can not hope to attain the better future promised by the Americans
with Disabilities Act. With long term care, we can save money while we provide support
to people in the settings that all of us agree are the best for everyone: family homes
instead of nursing homes, living rooms instead of hospital rooms.

We will be happy to work with you, Senator Feingold, to continue to refine the proposal
and to maintain and strengthen the values of consumer choice and flexibility embodied in

the plan. Thank you again for all your work.
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Senator Feingold. Thank you, Tom. As some of the folks from
the Alzheimer's group leave, I just want to acknowledge Mary An-
derson and the group. This is the issue that first got me into long-
term care and remains very important to me as a part of this, and
we have met with the national officials of the organization to make
sure that they, too, have some of the same feelings, and I thank
you for helping us have a good crowd. That's very, very kind.
Audience. We take care of our people.
Senator Feingold. A couple comments, then we'll ask you a few

questions. First of all, thank you for bringing out the point that
this is a very substantial Federal contribution, matching contribu-
tion. I don't know if it's going to end up being 90 percent, 75 per-
cent, whatever, it's certainly better than what we've had in the

past, if we can maintain it.

On the other side, caution always. When you see the President
hold up that health card, that doesn't cover this. Don't anyone
think that what he has done or what they're proposing is, as we've

said, a guaranteed entitlement. If you have your health card it will

entitle you to some things, but it will not entitle you to this. I think
that's a flaw. But just so there's no confusion about that, this is a

separate program, not part of the basic health care plan. I think
it should be. It's one of the things that we have to be concerned
about.

It talks about copa3mients, coinsurance. The way this thing is

drafted, apparently Senator Kennedy held a hearing on Thursday
having to do with this issue, and there was some criticism that,
there was even some talk of a 40-percent coinsurance. Some people
think it's a typo because it's so high. Most people say that it should
at least certainly not be more than 25 percent. That's something
that we will be looking at and be concerned about.
And thank you for making the point about high-cost individuals.

I've noticed the same concern when it comes to mental health serv-
ices. Advocates for those who have concerns about mental health
are concerned that a national health plan may provide everybody
with a little bit of marriage counseling, maybe, but not the exten-
sive help that some people need who are severely mentally ill. And
this is an analogy to what can happen here, if the focus is only
given a little bit to everybody rather than providing the full range
of help that the gentleman you described may need.
A couple of questions for you. I want to just have a word or two

from you expanding on the issue of the private insurance. The plan
apparently wants to provide some options for private long-term
care insurance.

Is there a role for this? Should it be stripped from the plan? You
talked about it, Tom Frazier. I need some guidance on that.

Mr. Frazier. Well, based on, as I said, I have appended a

lengthy discussion of this with my testimony, Betsy Abramson,
who's looked at this for a long, long time, but most studies have
just shown that, you know, first we had the issue of long-term care
insurance that was just bad. We had so many problems, so many
hoops to jump through you couldn't get it. Then as improvements,
as regulations strengthened, particularly here in Wisconsin, we got
some products that were better, but then it became very expensive
and out of the reach of most people.
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Several national studies have suggested that long-term care in-

surance, even good policies and so forth, will never deal with more
than just a tiny fraction of the people who need long-term care

services, particularly community-based long-term care.

So I think, you know, and based on my looking at it, I mean it

appears that that section I referred to creates a big Federal bu-

reaucracy with an advisory committee and the staff, and directed
to basically look at all the things that the National Association of
Insurance Commissioner regulations already deal with, with no
guarantee that we'll get anything better out of it after the end of
this long, expensive process; plus, I think, given the funding con-

cerns, I'd much rather see it go into a provision of community-
based long-term services than for tax write-offs for people who pur-
chase long-term care insurance.
Senator Feingold. Tom.
Mr. Hlavacek. And just to add to that, of course people with dis-

abilities have not faced the issue of supplemental long-term care
insurance as people from the elderly community have. There ap-
pears to be that potential, though, if we don't do something about
the relationship between the basic benefit package guaranteed in

the Health Security Act and the long-term care piece, because
there are many things that are not covered that people with dis-

abilities currently rely on quite a bit.

Customized equipment such as wheelchairs, outpatient occupa-
tional/physical therapy, speech pathology services, augmentative
devices that are paid for, right now, under Title XIX. If those are
not going to be covered under the basic benefit package and Title

XIX winds up being folded into the overall funding mechanism, and
it's also not there in the long-term care piece, then the only other

place that it's going to be available would be through a private,
supplemental insurance policy, and it may be the case that people
with disabilities, for the first time, will be out shopping for those

things, too. So we're concerned about making sure that the benefits
that people already have wind up in the plan somewhere, so that
we don't wind up adding to the rolls of people that are out shop-
ping for supplemental insurance.
Senator Feingold. So that's not an outcome you want. You don't

want the folks to have to be out shopping for that.

Mr. Hlavacek. Absolutely not. Right.
Senator Feingold. Okay. That's something people will have to

hear, because I think some of the folks that are behind it will have
to do something with the features. Apparently there's a tax reduc-
tion for it, or credit for buying the insurance. I'm not at all sure
that should be in there. You seem to be saying that if we can't

make certain changes it may be needed.
Mr. Hlavacek. Absolutely.
Senator FEINGOLD. But that's not where you want to be, but

that's a little bit of a dilemma that we'll have to work on.

I have just one other question of this panel. I have many more,
but I don't want to spend too much time before we go to the next

panel.
Tom Frazier mentioned the spousal impoverishment issues that

we worked on here. There was some concern expressed on Senator

Kennedy's hearing on Thursday about whether there should even
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be a State option at all in this area. Would it be better to have just
a federally mandated level? You seem to be speaking about that.

What are your thoughts on that; the $12,000?
Mr. Frazier. In support of that kind of activity or that kind of

having one level, again, the decision, for example, on spousal im-

poverishment, and I'm sure on this, if it would go through as

planned, it will come down to a State fiscal situation, not a ques-
tion of fairness or equity or any of those kind of things, the right
thing to do, or any of that. It will come down to whether or not the
State can afford it at the particular time.

Then, as in Wisconsin, and I'm sure, I know it's happened in

other States, I can't tell you how many other States, you know,
every time there's a shortage we come back and visit it again as
a way of saving money, as we do now with spousal impoverish-
ment, as we do now with SSI.

So you know, that's why I say I want to give some more thought
to having maybe even a slightly reduced level, but mainly, you
know, State—national.

Senator Feingold. National mandate. All right. I think both of

you have some specific suggestions you will find me using as we
start drafting memorandums, documents, talking personally about
it later. Thanks a lot.

The last panel will be next, and let me just say that the people
always complain about their government, that's one thing that you
find out after you're in government a while—it's fun to complain
about the government—and it often deserves it, but there are some
good things that are done with your tax dollars, both at the Federal
level and the State level.

The next two people are absolute classic examples of tax dollars

well spent. I know that, Sumner and I know that, from 12 years
of work with both of them. When I was 29 years old and was told

to be Chairman of the Aging Committee, from that moment on
these two individuals have done an enormous amount to show
what government can do. I am also going to take this opportunity
to say something very good about our Gk)vemor, Governor Thomp-
son, who I do disagree with on some issues, but the fact is that in

this last budget, through the advocacy of this coalition and many
of you, an excellent provision was provided to increase funding for

the Community Options Program. People said to me you can't run
for the Senate, we won't be able to get any increases any more.

Well, the truth is, the biggest increase ever came when I was gone.
And these folks here deserve credit, you deserve credit, but so does
the Governor, in fairness, and also the secretary, Gerald Whitburn.
So having said that, I would now turn to Tom Hamilton and

Donna McDowell. Start off with Tom. He is the administrator of

the Bureau of Long-Term Care Support of the Wisconsin Depart-
ment of Health and Social Services.

THOMAS E. HAMILTON, DIRECTOR, BUREAU OF LONG TERM
SUPPORT, WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND SO-
CIAL SERVICES

Mr. Hamilton. Good morning. Senator Feingold and respected
members of the Senate Special Committee on Aging.
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I am Thomas Hamilton, director of the Bureau of Long-Term
Support in the Wisconsin Department of Health and Social Serv-
ices. In this capacity I am responsible for administering commu-
nity-based long-term care initiatives such as the Wisconsin Com-
munity Options Program. I wish to thank you for the opportunity
to discuss ways in which the Wisconsin experience in long-term
care may relate to the long-term care provisions of the President's
Health Security Act.

Reform of our long-term care system is important not only to

older persons but to all generations of Americans. Our elders and
our younger citizens with disabilities, like most Americans, want to

live in their own homes in the manner of their choosing. Our sys-
tem of long-term care often fails to support this basic desire.

For example, over 80 percent of our national public funding for

long-term care is used for nursing home or other institutional

placements. The resources available to assist people with disabil-

ities to live in their own homes are inadequate and fragmented.
The long-term care portion of the Health Security Act proposes to

improve this situation by establishing a State-administered pro-

gram with very flexible Federal financing to enable persons with
chronic illness or disability to live in the community rather than
in nursing homes.
The basic principles of the Federal proposal are compatible with

the principles which our citizens have told us are important. My
respected colleagues have and will continue to describe some of

those principles. I hope to offer some more evidence that those

principles actually work, and to explain how they have helped
make Wisconsin's 12-year-old Community Options Program into

something we can discuss with pride.
Wisconsin's Community Options Program is in fact an excellent

example of a large-scale. State-administered, highly successful re-

form. Other States and other countries such as Australia have

carefully studied this Wisconsin program to guide their own long-
term care reform efforts. Now we are honored to have the Wiscon-
sin Community Options Program considered as a national model
and studied for the contribution it can make in the national long-
term care debate.
Each year the Community Options Program enables more than

12,000 persons with substantial disabilities to live in their own
homes rather than in nursing homes or institutions. While the ma-
jority of such individuals are elderly

—56 percent—many are young-
er persons with a developmental disability

—17 percent—physical
disability

—16 percent—or long-term mental illness—8 percent.

Through the strong bipartisan leadership of Governor Thompson
and Wisconsin legislators, past and present, the number of people
served in the Community Options Program has more than doubled
in the last 5 years and will increase again by 25 percent in the
next 2 years.

Why has this program grown so much? Because it works and be-

cause the citizens of Wisconsin believe in it. I will describe just a
few relevant aspects of the program.
The Community Options Program calls for participant-centered

decisionmaking. This means that each elderly or disabled person
actively participates in planning and decisionmaking about his or
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her own care. Persons applying for community options have the op-

portunity to sit down in their own homes with a nurse and social

worker. Together they discuss the areas of daily living in which the

person may need assistance.

They also identify the person's capabilities, lifestyle preferences,
and personal goals, so that supports can be arranged in the man-
ner most desired by the participant.
A care manager at the county level arranges the services nec-

essary to meet the particular requirements and interests of each
individual. The care manager seeks to accomplish these goals in a

way which minimizes dependency and encourages self-determina-

tion. Care management is a necessary process by which a long-
term care professional discovers what an individual with a dis-

abling condition wants and requires in order to live at home. The
care manager helps invent solutions to difficult problems, arranges
schedules and staffing, authorizes payment, and monitors quality.

Competent and caring social workers and nurses are the access

point to community options.
To make participant-centered decisionmaking a reality, certain

changes in finance are necessary.
First, we offer very comprehensive and flexible financing. In most

other programs, such as Medicaid and Medicare, the object of fund-

ing is a service. But in Community Options the object of funding
is the person in the program. There is no rigid menu of pre-selected
services. Instead, funds are completely flexible so that services can
be tailored to the unique needs and preferences of each elderly or

disabled individual.

You have already heard Mr. McLaughlin and others eloquently
describe the importance of this flexibility. Community Options will

pay for nursing and attendant care, housing modifications, adapt-
ive aids, and Meals on Wheels, to name just a few examples. But

Community Options will also fix the plumbing, build a wheelchair

ramp, or pay a neighbor to provide transportation if that is what
is required to enable a person who is old or disabled to live at

home.
Flexible funding also is a key to cost-effectiveness, since it en-

ables better targeting of funds and less costly substitutions among
equally effective services. Our most recent study demonstrated that

the average cost of care for Community Options participants, from
all public sources, was 16 percent less than comparable nursing
home costs.

A second finance decision we made was to adopt a fixed—rather

than open-ended budget. We made this decision both to manage
spending and to protect the quality of service. Persons are entitled

to be accepted in the program within the limits of available open-

ings. In each budget session the Governor and legislature, with
considerable encouragement, determine the number of openings.
Control over the ultimate number of people enrolled in the program
offers administrators the fiscal confidence necessary to allow coni-

plete fiexibility in funding the care plans desired most by partici-

pants.
In contrast, other long-term care programs which cannot control

the number of people to be served, will usually resort to less desir-

able methods to control spending. Many of those methods you
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heard previously described by Mr. Deist—perverse barriers to ac-

cess, blanket restrictions on service coverage, arbitrary rulemaking,
reliance on heavy regulation to discourage the entry of new provid-
ers, and an inflation of paperwork or other administrative burdens.
A third finance issue is the relationship between nursing home

use and community care. Well-targeted programs such as the Wis-
consin Community Options Program can and do play a substantial
role in containing the cost of institutional Medicaid entitlements.
For example, according to data reported to the Health Care Fi-

nancing Administration, national Medicaid nursing home use in-

creased by about 33 percent in the decade between 1981 and 1991;
but in Wisconsin, the Community Options Program and related ini-

tiatives enabled a 12-percent decline in such nursing home use. As
a result of this decline, more resources were available, both for

Community Options and for protection of nursing home rates

against the effects of inflation.

We hope any maintenance of effort requirements in the Health
Security Act will provide States with the flexibility necessary to

benefit from any savings which result from lowered Medicaid nurs-

ing home use.

Finally, we hope that any Federal requirements intended to as-

sure quality of care will rely not on heavy regulation but on the
values and preferences expressed by each participant. By "values,"
I simply mean those qualities which are held in esteem for their
own sake. Keeping my health is a value frequently expressed by
elder and younger persons with disabilities. Safety is another. And
there are many more.

People who are old or disabled tell us they wish to remain in

their own homes among the familiar and the cherished. They wish
to sustain relationships with persons they care about. They hope
to maintain their decisionmaking abilities and rights. They have
strong feelings about who comes into their homes and who works
on their bodies.

In other words, choice, self-determination, privacy, friends, and
relationships are among the qualities they value most highly. Yet,
these values are usually not the subject of State or Federal quality
assurance systems or standards. Instead, a narrow range of values,
such as safety and provider credentials typically dominate licensing
standards, practice protocols, and quality review standards.
We hope these narrow tendencies can be avoided in a new na-

tional system and that universal human values will, instead, be the

centerpiece of quality control.

In closing, I want to observe that health reform without long-
term care reform would be an incomplete promise. States such as
Wisconsin have carried the financial burden of long-term care to

the limit of their resources. Citizens with disabilities or infirmities

of age have worked together with us at the State level to design
innovative, cost-effective home- and community-care systems. We
urgently need the Federal Government as a stronger partner in fi-

nancing community-based long-term care.

It is important that the experience of States be acknowledged by
putting responsibilities for design and management at the State
and local level where ordinary citizens can have the greatest influ-
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ence on the values and benefits of Community Options. Thank you
very much.

Senator Feingold. Thank you very much, Tom.
Now we'll turn to Donna.

DONNA Mcdowell, director, bureau on aging,
WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND SOCLAL SERVICES

Ms. McDowell. Thank you. Good morning, Senator Feingold. I

would like to send my greetings to the other distinguished mem-
bers of the Senate Special Committee on Aging, your distinguished
chair, Senator Pryor, and our own Senator Kohl.

I'm Donna McDowell, director of the Bureau on Aging in the De-

partment of Health and Social Services, which is the State Unit on

Aging in Wisconsin. I'm pleased to have another opportunity to ap-

pear before you and your committee, this time as past president of

the National Association of State Units on Aging and as chair-

person of that organization's long-term care reform committee.
We are privileged and delighted on two counts—that you chose

to convene a session of this distinguished committee here in Madi-

son, and that you chose to have your hearing on long-term care,
which is unarguably the most important health policy issue for

older persons, and a critical issue for families of all ages who all

face the risk of long-term disability.
I'm pleased to talk today about State systems of long-term care

and how a Federal program can support existing systems.
For more than a decade States have been leaders in developing

community-based programs for older persons and other persons
with disabilities who choose to receive long-term care at home rath-

er than in nursing homes. There are two major reasons why the
States and not the Federal Government have been at the forefront

of long-term care reform.
First of all, citizens—like the citizens in this room, from the Alz-

heimer's Association, the Coalition of Wisconsin Aging Groups, the
Coalition for Advocacy, AARP—have been active in their State cap-
itols, working with their Governors and their State legislators to

improve the system of long-term care.

Meanwhile, in Washington, in the past, the attention of this com-
mittee and national consumer groups has been focused mainly on
Social Security and Medicare issues, and there has been less visible

attention to the devastating effects of long-term chronic illness, of

dementia, of disability, on the financial and social well-being of per-
sons who need long-term care. So it's very good news to long-term
care consumers and to their families that Congress and the Federal
Administration will be examining the need for a nationwide system
of long-term care based on consumer choice as part of a national

debate on health reform.
The second reason States have been leaders in long-term reform

has been the rising cost of unmanaged institutional long-term care

entitlements financed under Title XIX. Governors and State legisla-
tors have come to realize that long-term care costs will go up, no
matter what they do, because of the dramatic rise in the population
over age 85 and the rising survival rates of adults and children

with the most severe disabilities, and the rise in nursing home
rates resulting from the Boren Amendment.
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In spite of this pressure, as you well know, States are required
to balance their budgets. Perhaps most remarkable about the ef-

forts of States in the long-term care field is that State reform ef-

forts have been a marriage of cost control strategies and the pur-
suit of improved quality.
There have been typically five goals pursued by States to achieve

both cost and quality outcomes sought by Governors and legisla-

tors, as reported by the Center for the Advancement of State Com-
munity Care Programs at NASUA, and by the National Governors'
Association.

First, States have sought to alter the balance between institu-

tional and community care spending and to change the mix of serv-

ice resources from higher cost medical to lower cost social models
of care. Typically, States have spent about 95 percent of public
long-term care funds in the institutions and only 5 percent in the

community.
Wisconsin has achieved a greatly improved balance with about

$5 spent in institutional care for the elderly for every dollar in

home care for the elderly; and for the nonelderly disabled, the split
of nursing home and community-care funding is about 50/50 in the
State of Wisconsin.
These alterations in spending patterns in States have been the

result of deliberate policies to limit the expansion of nursing
homes, initiate pre-admission screening to divert applicants from

nursing homes, and to make access to nursing homes and home
care equally available.

The second State goal is to expand service options. Since long-
term care involves support with basic activities of daily living, it's

increasingly clear that traditional home health services, as has
been already so eloquently said this morning, and other traditional

medical services in and of themselves are not necessary, sufficient,
or even desirable, to meet the daily support needs of participants.

States are moving toward a full array of service options and a

greater diversity of providers. Expenditures on personal care,

homemakers, home delivered meals, adult day care, family respite
care, environmental support for persons with dementia, housing
modification, and transportation are emerging as more important
to keeping people out of nursing homes and functioning at a higher
level at home than the historical reliance on skilled nursing care.

Consumer satisfaction, as we've heard this morning, is demon-

strably higher when people have a say in how the services are de-

livered and by whom.
A third goal of State reform has been to assure that persons in

the greatest need receive care. The use of objective indicators of

need, established by the State and administered by the case man-
ager—who ideally controls a budget and is responsible for cost—
provides for better targeting of scarce resources than fee-for-service

entitlements in which providers determine the scope and cost of

what they will deliver and to whom. This ensures fairness and eq-

uity for consumers with competing demands and allows for better

budget planning. It's also important to target resources to the

group who would otherwise use the costlier form of institutional

care.
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A fourth goal of States has been to develop a single predictable
funding source to reduce the complexity of multiple funding
streams and to reduce the need for excessively complex, adminis-
trative infrastructure, to make the most efficient use of available
resources within fixed budgets. Most States have had only limited
success in reducing complexity, and the current system remains a

patchwork of multiple funding streams. The need for a single, pre-
dictable funding source to reduce the current complexity and uncer-

tainty of long-term care becomes more evident as systems and de-
mand grow.
Key to the management of these State and waiver programs has

been the reduction of extensive Federal intervention in the regula-
tion and the definition of programs and services. Where Title XIX
has been the central funding source, complexity and rigidity inevi-

tably creep in. State funded programs, like Community Options,
are able to tie funds to an individual care plan, to maximize family
and community connections, and increase consumer choice of who
provides care. We don't want Federal regulation or restrictions that
define the type of provider that must be used.
That leads to the fifth State goal, achieving real quality in com-

munity care. As Tom Hamilton has said, the design of participant-
centered systems, of community care contrasts with the more tradi-

tional programs of Medicaid and Medicare. A participant-oriented
program leads to new definitions of quality which are more consist-

ent with contemporary views of total quality management. They're
less dependent on inspection and paperwork documentation of

quality.
To respond to participants' needs and preferences, States have

relied on care managers to talk to people about their options for

care and develop highly individualized care plans which are sup-
ported by a variety of providers of care, some formal and paid,
some informal and voluntary. Decisionmaking involves the
consumer and takes advantage of the natural prudence of most
older people and most persons with disabilities who live on limited
incomes.
We've already eloquently heard stated in the first panel what the

new approaches to quality really mean to people. Care managers
need to learn about each person's preferences for privacy versus so-

cial interaction, that person's view of the acceptable level of risk,
his or her preference for location, and type of service, such as at

home alone or in the community center. So autonomy will vie with

safety in the articulation of standards. These are personal deter-

minations of quality which cannot be standardized by government.
The goal of using consumer standards of quality drives the

States to expand the array of services and offer the greatest pos-
sible flexibility of benefits. Flexibility and regulatory definitions of

providers in the tasks they can perform reduces costly professional
specialization and demarcation. More importantly, flexibility in

funding means that State programs do not merely buy units of

service; they support how people live.

These characteristics of community-based long-term care in

States from Maine to Washington and, most proudly, in Wisconsin,
are embedded in the infrastructure of care management already es-
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tablished. It is lack of funds, not lack of capacity, which cause a
number of States to lag behind Wisconsin.

I'm pleased to see long-term care included as part of this pro-

posal. It's very important for older persons that the final plan for

health care address long-term care. And we hope that Congress
recognizes the considerable outlay for long-term care already being
made by the States. It goes without saying that States cannot ab-
sorb any new unfunded mandates, but a fully funded long-term
care plan which expands home and community care with reason-
able consumer copayment, can truly respond to the financial threat
of long-term care, the financial threat for people and for State gov-
ernment.
What we urge is that the Congress agree to develop a long-term

care proposal along the lines of those in Wisconsin and other
States. And I hope that as Members of Congress deal with the
issue of long-term care within the center of health reform, appro-
priate focus will remain on the very positive experience that Wis-
consin has had with our Community Options Program. It is truly
a model that the rest of the Nation can follow.

So in closing, let me summarize that adhering to this model
means a commitment to improving the balance between institu-

tional and community spending; it means expanding, not limiting,
service choices to meet an individual plan within a budget target;
it requires more carefully defined eligible target populations to as-

sure both fairness and accurate budgeting; it means a predictable
funding source that reduces complexity and provides stability and
affordability; and, most importantly, it means defining quality in

terms that are meaningful to citizens, quality measured in terms
of choice, autonomy, and individualized services to achieve the out-

come of a renewed ability to participate in home, family, and com-

munity life.

Thank you very much. Senator. It's a privilege to be here today.
Senator Feingold. Thank you. Donna and Tom.
Donna did have a chance to come out and testify before the U.S.

Senate Aging Committee in her role as, I believe, still president of

National Association of State Units on Aging, and that was an op-

portunity for me to do what I sort of considered to be the water
torture on the Administration. Every time any of their people
showed up for 6 months, whether it was Ira Magaziner, or whether
it was the Aging Committee, I highlighted our Wisconsin long-tenn
care program, and asked them to look at it. I'm sure that there
were other reasons they looked at it. In fact. Senator Bob Graham,
from Florida, the largest senior population percentagewise in any
State in the country, came to me one day and said, I just saw on
TV last night, I don't know what show it was, had a feature on the
Wisconsin program. He said, "What's this all about?" And some of

these people were involved. That caused Senator Bob Graham to

come to me and Senator Pryor and say, "Hey, I hear you guys have
this thing in Wisconsin, I wish we had it in Florida." That's how
this all happened.
And then finally the First Lady came to me and said, "Senator

Kohl and Senator Feingold are here from the State that really does
this." So there are moments when you're not sure whether or not
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these hearings make a difference, but if you keep at it, it finally

gets through. It's getting things on the radar screen.
So I had the very amusing moment when they finally announced

the plan, I went down to the little university thing where I was
being lectured to about long-term care, and I asked a question, and
this woman from the Administration said, 'Tou know. Senator

Feingold, Wisconsin has this
"
[Laughter.]

And I bit my tongue as hard as I could and said, "Yes, that's

true, and let's make it true on the national level."

Now just a couple of questions for the last panel.
The President's plans call for a capped entitlement that States

will be given funds to serve eligible people, but as we've talked
about today, the total amount of revenue available is capped, no
matter how many eligible people there may be. People have wor-
ried about possible distribution problems because of the cap. Con-
sumers might be forced to give up services if funds run out in any
particular year. In this sense, as we know very well, COP is similar
to the President's proposal, in that the legislature and the Gov-
ernor set a fixed level of funds available for the program but no
more.
Could you say a word or two about the COP experiences with

these kind of year-end problems and generally of problems in un-

derestimating usage in any one year? What should we tell people
in Washington about that?
Mr. Hamilton. Our problem is manifest in the waiting list, and

we do the best we can to project the utilization, but it's a very pop-
ular program and it provides the kind of care that people want.
There's also 34,000 people supported by Medicaid in nursing homes
and a large percentage of those would be interested in this kind of

program, so there's no question in our minds that right now there's

many people who would want to be served here.

It's a question of managing those resources, and so we adopted
a model where we can control the number of people entering, and
we can track that in a very honest and up-front manner, and that

stands, I think, in contrast to other programs that still have to

maintain a budget but have to rely on other techniques, such as
the erection of those entrance barriers that I discussed earlier. And
so it's a difficult problem, but the problem is not solved in either
an entitlement fashion or fixed budget. The key, I think, is to try
to maintain good projections on how many people need the service

and maintain adequate funding for those and then try to do the
best that we can with the most flexible funding for those people
who are enrolled in the program.
Senator FEINGOLD. Okay.
Mr. Hamilton. Do you want to add to this?

Ms. McDowell. Yes. I think that, actually, the bill that we're

talking about today is pretty explicit right up front, that there is

not an entitlement, and I don't think that there are any State gov-
ernments who have any problem with that, because, all of the ex-

periments that I've described in States have occurred within the
context of fixed budgets and people are accustomed to that and also

consider it prudent to make decisions up front about how many
people you intend to serve and how to finance those.
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I think the real challenge to Congress in shaping this plan will

be to try to define a target population which matches the amount
of money Congress intends to make available to the program. What
would be, indeed, enormously unfair, both to States and to consum-
ers, would be to define a very broad target population but then to

provide financing which does not, in any way, come near to the pro-

jected costs and then leave it to States and consumers to figure out
how to cope.
So I think looking at the definitions of target populations, which

in some cases remain vague in the legislation, will remain impor-
tant, and then using the data that has already been used to project
these costs to determine what ought to be available to States.

So as I said, I think the selection of target population, as States
have already done, is very important. If we are not going to serve

everyone, we need to be honest and say that we're not.

Senator Feingold. That's a very good point. I see Bette Johnson
(consumer representative) nodding with understanding on that one.

Two other quick questions.
It's my understanding that it's entirely left up to the States

whether or not they want to participate in this program. Again, it's

not on the card, it's not required. Is there danger in allowing States
to stay out, or will there be sufficient pressure for them to partici-

pate?
Ms. McDowell. Speaking from the perspective of the National

Association of State Units on Aging which had considerable discus-

sion about this issue last week, I will say that, as I said in my tes-

timony, by and large States are going to be unwilling to accept ad-
ditional mandates, if the funding levels remain unclear.
We experienced, as you'll recall, a similar situation in Wisconsin

when we began the Community Options Program and counties

began to participate on a voluntary basis. Once people understood
that it wasn't a trick and that there really would be funding to sup-
port the program and that people would not be expected to serve
more people than they had funds for, we achieved full participation
of 72 counties. So I think that it is a matter of knowing what will

be available to States.

Certainly the incentives need to remain favorable in terms of

match, as they now appear to be, and I think there also needs to

be some understanding on the part of the designers of the program
that there need to be contingency plans for the citizens of those
States which choose not to participate in that plan and maybe for

Federal administration.
Senator Feingold. I can certainly confirm that from my own ex-

perience with the Alzheimer's program which you helped me with

many years ago. We decided that because of the concern of counties
and others that they don't want unfunded mandates, just have the

program, offer a funded nonmandate, and it took a couple of years,
but as I understood it, we ended up with all 72 couxities in the pro-

gram. I don't know if it's still 72. Is it?

Ms. McDowell. Yes.
Senator Feingold. That worked fairly well from the initial part

of the program. I don't think that this cuts away from my basic be-
lief that this should be something that everybody's entitled to. It's

a question of how you actually achieve it.
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Mr. Hamilton. If I could just add to that.

I think that what States need is not so much mandates as sup-
port. I would assert that the citizenry of all States would want this

kind of a program, and States just need some help in figuring out
how to make it work, and there's a tremendous amount of experi-
ence across the country, on a State level, community-based long-
term care—48 States have community-based waivers. But what's
needed is some way, some mechanism, to provide assistance to

those States that are not as well-developed and to transfer some
of the knowledge and experiences amongst all of the States so that
we can take the best of each State and make it useful. And that
kind of support is something that States need.

Senator Feingold. Thanks, Tom. One last question along the
same lines. Some have said that it isn't sufficient for States to par-
ticipate, that they must be required to spend all of their Federal
allotment in any one year. What are your thoughts in adding such
a requirement, if any?
Ms. McDowell. It is a somewhat peculiar notion to require the

money to be spent if it isn't needed, but I actually have no doubt
that the funding is needed, and the incentives appear to be in favor
of shifting folks from the current traditional Medicaid program,
whether it's nursing home or community, into this newly designed
program with more attractive State match. I think that that is

probably not an issue of great concern in terms of serving the tar-

get population, particularly given the severity of needs of the de-

fined target population, that this is not a population group with
few needs.

I do think, though, that there needs to be recognition that the
initial projections of costs are estimates and that there may be

problems of underfunding and overfunding, and certainly the bill

ought to retain provisions for renegotiating that formula and those

funding levels over the period of implementation, because I don't

think there's any way they're going to get the numbers right and
there will be some States underfunded and others overfunded. The
data available on people who meet this threshold definitely should
still be gathered.

Senator Feingold. Sure.
Tom.
Mr. Hamilton. When we're serving or we agree to serve someone

who requires long-term care, we are making a long-term commit-
ment to that individual, and that means we need to do multi-year
planning of the dollars. It's quite possible that you may have a
number of individuals apply at once at the end of the year and you
may not be able to spend all your money in that year, but if you
make a commitment to them you'll more than spend all those funds
in the succeeding year.
So one of the things that we did in the Community Options Pro-

gram is to enable counties to carry over up to 10 percent of their

money from year to year to manage those variations in frequency
of enrollment and allow them to do better planning for the long
term because it is a long-term commitment we're making to indi-

viduals.

Senator FEINGOLD. Thank you very much. I think everyone did

a great job, and this is going to be an excellent package. I believe
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that these are printed up in a volume that will be accessible to the
Federal Government, so you will be able to get a transcript of the
entire proceeding, not something that we had in our State senate

days, so that will be helpful and provided for.

I want to thank the legislature, the Governor, the State govern-
ment for making this possible, and do get your comments, your
ideas, your anecdotes, your stories to us between now and the end
of the year because we have a plan for how we're going to make
use of this and we do need the material.
Thank you very much.
[Whereupon, at 12:12 p.m., the Committee adjourned, to recon-

vene at the call of the Chair.]
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December 23, 1993

We appreciate this opportunity to provide our views and concerns regarding long

term care for persons with serious and persistent mental illnesses. We believe that it is

essential that appropriate services for this population be included in national health care

reform.

In Wisconsin we have worked to see the development of a network of community

support programs across the state which in 1992 served 7,000 adults with serious mental

iUness. We have also endeavored to seciu-e stable sources of funding for these programs.

Commimity support programs are now reimbursed with state and county funds plus the

state's Commimity Options Program, the state's Medicaid program, the state's high risk

health insurance plan, and are a mandated benefit for group insurance plans. Thus,

multiple public and private funding sources have been oriented to pay for this service

which has been highly successful in maintaining individuals in their homes and communi-

ties and in reducing inpatient hospital utilization. Payment for hospital care takes only

35% of Wisconsin's pubhc mental health dollars, one of the lowest percentages in the

country.

However, we are concerned about the future of this system of care for persons

with long term serious mental illness. The Clinton plan while recognizing the need for

rehabilitation services for persons with mental illness has several flaws.

First, access to the benefits for intensive non-residential treatment services and

case management, the two benefits most likely to reimburse community support pro-

grams, is to be controlled by the health plans. This may mean that extensive negotiations

will be required for the plans to recognize the importance of these services and to

provide coverage. It also may mean that coverage that is now mandated under Wiscon-

sin insurance laws will no longer be required. Instead of being discretionary services

under the plan, these services should be mandated for persons with serious and persistent

mental illnesses.

Second, the intensive non-residential benefit is subject to significant co-payments,

to a limitation of 120 days per year, and to a trade off for inpatient days.

Services for persons with long term mental illnesses should have positive incentives

for persons to use them, not significant disincentives in the form of co-payments. Many

persons are reluctant to become involved in treatment; significant co-payments will only

drive them away. In the long run this becomes "penny-wise and pound foolish" because

without the treatment and support provided by community based rehabiUtative programs

many people have a recurrence of their symptoms and a resulting costly hospitalizatioiL

(55)
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The limitation of 120 days per year also fails to recognize that for many persons
with serious illnesses intensive contact, including daily contact at times, may be necessary.

To make this benefit more useful, there must be a way to provide more flexibility.

Allowing more days with prior authorization or basing the limitation on hours instead of

days m^ be useful alternative approaches.

The inpatient day trade-off may mean that persons with serious illnesses will be

required to choose between an inpatient stay to deal with acute symptoms or to regulate

medication and the consistent community treatment they need. For many persons this is

an impossible choice. Instead these illnesses should be recognized for what they are - a

serious long term condition that needs a variety of flexible, consistently available

treatment options.

Instead of trying to control utilization of the rehabilitative benefit by making it

optional, imposing co-payments, and limiting the nimiber of days, the legislation could

focus on eligibility and establish criteria which would provide the benefit only for persons
with persistent illnesses which significantly interfere with the ability to function. This is .

the approach which Wisconsin has taken in Medicaid and insurance reimbursement for

its community support programs.

A third major problem for persons with mental illness in the proposed health care

refonn plcin is the Long Term Care Initiative. While this plan is extremely significant for

persons with physical and developmental disabilities, it will be very difficult to access for

persons with mental illness. The eligibility criteria focus on inabiUty to perform activities

of daily living which include only: eating, tofleting, dressing, bathing and transferring in

and out of bed. The vast majority of persons with serious mental illness can adequately

perform these physical tasks. To include them under this eligibility test, the list should be

expanded to include at a minimum : work, school, and social interaction. The eligibility

test also includes a requirement that the impairment be expected to last for at least 100

days. This may also be a barrier for persons with mental illness whose conditions change

periodically, especially if they receive support and treatment. Thus, rephrasing this

requirement to be "a period of at least 100 days if adequate treatment and support
services are not provided" would be helpful.

An alternative approach would be the use of a functional screen such as that used

in Wisconsin's Commimity Options Program. Persons with mental illness are eligible for

COP if they have a chronic mental illness and they meet the standard for admission to a

psychiatric hospital or nursing home or have been hospitalized at least 3 times or spent
180 days or more in a psychiatric hospital in the past 12 months.

Frequently, persons with mental illness are not conceptualized as needing long
term support services. However, most persons with serious illnesses, such as schizophre-
nia, do need long term and consistent services. Including persons with serious mental
illness in Wisconsin's Community Options Program has been extremely beneficial for

many persons. In addition to helping fund community support programs it has also

provided assistance for pmd roommates or neighbors, supported housing, respite care,
and other long term support services. Along with the community support program
initiative, it has been a significant factor in reducing Medicaid fimded nursing home care
for persons with mental illness. From 1986 to 1992 the numbers of persons under age 65
with serious mental illness in Wisconsin nursing homes has dropped from 1,900 to 1,100,
a number which unfortunately is still too high.

Health care reform has major potential for expanding and stabilizing support for

commimity based services for persons with serious mental illnesses. However, as drafted
we are concerned that it could jeopardize Wisconsin's programs. It also will not enable

persons with serious mental illnesses across the country to access the treatment and

support services they need in order to live fulfilling, productive lives in our communities.
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